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Forests
Acknowledgement of Traditional Owners
VicForests respectfully acknowledges Aboriginal people as the
First Peoples and Traditional Owners and custodians of the land
and water on which we rely.
We recognise and respect their unique culture and contribution
to our communities.
We also pay our respects to ancestors and Elders,
past, present and future.
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CHAIR AND CEO’S

Report
On behalf of the Board, we are pleased to present
VicForests’ Annual Report 2017-18.
Over the year we were again presented with many
challenges, however our performance remained
strong. We were able to achieve this in a year which
saw a significant reduction in our available harvest
levels in Mountain and Alpine Ash forests.
Our ‘Zero Harm’ strategies resulted in an overall
decline in both employee and contractor injuries
to record low levels. In 2017-18 we recorded one
Lost Time Injury for staff, and three for contractors.
However, even one injury is still one too many. We
are committed to improving our safety record for
both staff and contractors through supporting a
culture of leadership that embraces health and
safety.
The appointment of the Chief Executive Officer
and restructure of the executive team saw a
refocused effort on improving stakeholder
engagement, identifying supply chain efficiencies
and strengthening our forestry management and
biodiversity conservation.

The native forest and timber industry continues to
make a significant contribution to Victoria’s social
and economic wellbeing. The strong demand for
native timber has led to substantial investment in
processing efficiency and technology, as well as
new products and markets for lower value logs.
We extend our thanks to our staff, contractors and
management team for their significant efforts
over the past year. Without their professionalism,
resilience and dedication we would not have been
able to achieve such a solid performance.
We also take this opportunity to acknowledge the
effective and insightful contribution of our retired
Board members, Graeme Stoney and Catherine
Walter, who served on the Board for six years until
their departures in October 2017. We also welcome
our new Board members Christopher Lovell, Kim
McGrath and Gregory Sword.

Despite a reduction in D+ ash sawlog volumes and
increased litigation costs, we achieved a profit
after tax of $1.2 million and ended the year with no
debt and cash reserves of $1.0 million. This reflects
the strong focus VicForests has maintained on
managing our financial performance.

Michael Humphris
Chair 			

VicForests has continued to contribute significantly
to research on the detection and protection of
many of the State’s forest-dependent threatened
species, in particular the Leadbeater’s Possum, the
Greater Glider and the Long-footed Potoroo.

Nathan Trushell
Chief Executive Officer

We also undertook an assessment against the
Forest Stewardship Council (FSC) Controlled Wood
Standard FSC-STD-30-010. VicForests maintains its
commitment to achieving FSC certification.
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ABOUT

VicForests
VicForests was established as a State business
corporation under the Order in Council of 28
October 2003 by the Victorian Government
and commenced operations in August 2004.
The Treasurer is the sole shareholder. The
responsible Treasurer during the 2017-18
reporting period was Mr. Tim Pallas MP. The
responsible Minister during the 2017-18
reporting period was the Hon Jaala Pulford
MP, Minister for Agriculture.

Strategic Direction
VicForests is proud to be recognised as a
credible, successful and dynamic native
forestry business that provides a sustainable
contribution to Victoria. We achieve this by
living our values every day.
VicForests aims to:
•

maintain our strong commercial forestry
business so that we can continue to make
a significant contribution to the Victorian
economy and its communities;

•

respect the forests in which we operate and
build strong environmental systems that
sustain our unique Victorian biodiversity;
and

•

grow our business through the efficient and
effective delivery of Government policy
objectives.

Vision
We are leading forest managers operating to
the highest standards and our work provides
long-term value for Victorian communities.
Purpose
To sustainably manage the State’s renewable
timber resources for the long-term
environmental, economic and social benefit
of all Victorians.

1. Melbourne

7. Bendigo

13. Erica

2. Healsville

8. Ballarat

14. Ovens

National Parks and
other reserves

3. Orbost

9. Geelong

15. Swifts Creek

4. Ouyen

10. Alexandra

16. Bendoc

VicForests regions

5. Horsham

11. Powelltown

6. Warnnambool

12. Noojee

State Forest

4

5
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9
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2
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13
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Sustainable

Safe

We respect and care for our
environment and the communities
in which we operate

We aim for Zero Harm
in all that we do

Customer Focused

Professional

We are responsible in our
commercial dealings

We operate in an ethical, efficient
and accountable manner

5

Respect
We treat others in a manner that
we would like to be treated

Values
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Corporate Governance

CO R PO R AT E

Governance
Board of Directors
Michael Humphris - Chair

Therese Ryan - Deputy Chair

14/11/2012 – 18/11/2019

28/01/2013 – 31/05/2020

FCA, FSIA, MAICD
Director, Horizon Equity Consulting Pty
Ltd

LLB, GAICD

David Cochrane
1/01/2016 – 31/05/2020

Chair, Gippsland Water, Deputy
Chair, Victorian Managed Insurance
Authority, Director, Bapcor Ltd, WA
Local Superannuation and Independent
Member, Audit Committee, City of
Melbourne

DBA, MBA, BEc, ACCA, MAICD
Director, Guide Dogs Victoria,
Cloudstreet Economics Pty Ltd, World
Urban Parks and Phillip Island Nature
Parks

Christopher Lovell
1/06/2018 – 31/05/2021
BA, LLM, FAICD
Chair, Holding Redlich, Director,
Clemenger Group, City West Water,
Barnett Foundation Independent Chair,
Parkville Stakeholder Reference Group
for the Metro Tunnel, Parkville/North
Melbourne and the CBD Community
Reference Group for the Metro Tunnel

Gregory Sword AM
1/06/2018 – 31/05/2021
GAICD
Director, VESKI and Acting Trust
Executive Officer, Lake Tyers Aboriginal
Trust

Catherine Walter AM
19/11/2011 – 06/10/2017
LLB (Hons), LLM, MBA (Melb), FAICD
Deputy Chair, Victorian Funds
Management Corporation, Chair,
Melbourne Genomics Health Alliance,
Chair, Financial Adviser Standards and
Ethics Authority, Director, Australian
Foundation Investment Company,
Director, Reserve Bank’s Payment System

Angeleen Jenkins
1/01/2016 – 31/05/2020
BA, FAICD
Director, Central Highlands Water,
Taumata Plantations Limited and Tiaki
Plantations Company

Kim McGrath
1/06/2018 – 31/05/2021
LLB, BA, GAICD
Director, South East Water, Melbourne
International Film Festival and Principal
Consultant, BKE Consulting

Graeme Stoney
19/11/2011 – 06/10/2017
Executive Officer, Mountain Cattleman’s
Association of Victoria, Chair, Mansfield
Cultural Heritage and Arts Centre
Project, Chair, High Country Digital
Library Project
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Board Meetings
Eligible

Attended

Kim McGrath(i)

0

0

7

Gregory Sword(i)

0

0

7

6

Graeme Stoney

3

3

Angeleen Jenkins

7

7

Catherine Walter

3

2

Chris Lovell(i)

0

0

Eligible

Attended

Michael Humphris – Chair

7

7

Therese Ryan – Deputy Chair

7

David Cochrane

Committee Meetings

Audit and Risk
Eligible Attended
Michael Humphris

(ii)

1

Therese Ryan

(ii)

1

David Cochrane

5

5

Angeleen Jenkins

5

5

OHS and
Environmental
Advisory

Business
Development

Executive
Remuneration

Eligible Attended Eligible Attended Eligible Attended
3
4

3

4
5

4

4

4

5

4

1

1

2

2

1

1

1

1

1

1

Chris Lovell(i)
Kim McGrath(i)
Gregory Sword(i)
Graeme Stoney
Catherine Walter

Notes:
(i)
(ii)

2

2

Appointed on 1 June 2018 and not eligible for any meetings in 2017-18.
These directors are not on the committee but chose to attend one meeting each during 2017-18.
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Corporate Governance

Board Committees

Business Development Committee

The Board has four committees, each operating
under a charter approved by the Board. They
meet periodically to focus on finance and risk,
remuneration, health, safety and the environment as
well as ongoing business development.

The Business Development Committee identifies
and recommends new business opportunities to the
Board, identifies obstacles and issues preventing the
development of the timber industry and monitors
communication on relevant matters between
VicForests and the Victorian Government.

Audit and Risk Committee
The Audit and Risk Committee oversees and advises
the Board on matters of accountability relating to
financial accounting practices, risk management,
internal control systems, external financial reporting
and the internal and external audit function. The
Committee maintains effective communication with
external auditors and considers recommendations
made by internal and external auditors.
In fulfilling its role, the Committee must meet the
requirements of the Standing Directions of the
Minister for Finance 2016.
Executive Remuneration Committee
The Executive Remuneration Committee
reviews and approves executive remuneration in
accordance with Government Sector Executive
Remuneration Panel guidelines and policies.
Occupational Health, Safety and Environmental
Advisory Committee
The Occupational Health, Safety and Environmental
Advisory Committee is responsible for monitoring
the effectiveness of VicForests’ practices to manage
occupational health, safety and environmental risks.
To do this the Committee monitors the
effectiveness of critical systems and reviews
significant incident investigations and corrective
actions. This is achieved by reviewing incident
statistics, statements from management, audit
reports, changes in regulation and case law.

The Committee identifies and works with VicForests
staff, partners and similar organisations on business
development opportunities.

Board and Committee Chairs
Chair

Board

Michael Humphris – Chair
Therese Ryan – Deputy Chair

Audit and Risk
Committee

David Cochrane

Executive
Remuneration
Committee

Michael Humphris

Occupational
Health, Safety &
Environment
Advisory
Committee

Angeleen Jenkins

Business
Development
Committee

Rotates meeting-to-meeting
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Executive Team

Nathan Trushell

Bronwyn Wellings

Chief Executive Officer

Chief Financial Officer

BSc (REM), MIFA

BEc, FCPA, FFTP, GAICD

Anne Geary

Alex Messina

General Manager Strategy and Business
Development

General Manager Corporate Affairs
MArts(Comm), BA(Hons), MPRIA

BForSc
Owen Trumper

Peter Patterson

General Manager Operations

General Counsel

BForSc

LLM, FCIS

Lachlan Spencer - until 31/01/2018

Bradley Winthrop – until 31/01/2018

General Manager Stakeholders and Planning

General Manager Operations

BForSc, GDipBA

Dip Forestry

Organisational Structure*
VicForests Board

Audit
and Risk
Committee

Executive
Remuneration
Committee

General Counsel
Peter Patterson

General Manager
Operations
Owen Trumper

Chief Executive
Officer
Nathan Trushell

Chief Financial
Officer
Bronwyn Wellings

Business
Development
Committee

General Manager
Corporate Affairs
Alex Messina

OHS and
Environment
Committee

General Manager
Strategy and Business
Development
Anne Geary

* The Board Committee structure has been reviewed and a revised structure will be implemented as of 2018-19. The
revised structure will comprise Audit, Finance and Risk, Executive Remuneration, Environment and Stakeholders and
People, Safety and Culture Committees.
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A year in review

A YEAR IN

Review
Summary of Financial Results

2017-18

Sales volume (m3)

2016-17

2015-16

2014-15

2013-14

2012-13

1,293,302 1,281,774 1,321,481 1,281,766 1,270,841 1,272,439

$’000

Revenue from sale of forest products

100,759

103,476

112,005

107,626

104,258

104,474

27,718

29,063

36,505

33,943

31,376

30,789

% of sales revenue

27.5%

28.1%

32.6%

31.5%

30.1%

29.5%

Profit from operations before tax

2,613

1,535

7,385

4,147

2,190

997

% of sales revenue

2.6%

1.5%

6.6%

3.9%

2.1%

1.0%

Net profit/(loss) after tax

1,218

(3,170)

3,424

4,677

3,411

802

1.2%

0.0%

3.1%

4.3%

3.3%

0.8%

6,933

3,456

7,784

15,985

4,531

10,129

Total assets

88,342

88,475

98,672

94,659

89,363

80,020

Total liabilities

24,534

25,885

32,912

33,479

32,095

36,142

Net assets/equity

63,808

62,590

65,760

61,180

57,268

43,878

(968)

3

(3,388)

(1,280)

13,535

16,933

N/A

0.0%

N/A

N/A

19.1%

27.8%

Stumpage

(i)

% of sales revenue
Net cash flow from operating activities

Net debt(ii)
Gearing (net debt/(net debt plus
equity))
Notes:
(i)

Stumpage = revenue from sale of forest products less production expenses

(ii)

Net debt = short-term debt plus long-term debt less cash and deposits
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Revenue from Sales of Forest Products

Profit from Operations before Tax

$’000
$’000

140,000

8,000

7,000

120,000

6,000

100,000
5,000

80,000
4,000

60,000

3,000

2,000

40,000

1,000

20,000

3
20

12

-1

4
13

-1

5
20

14

-1

6
20

-1
15
20

-1
16
20

20

17

-1

7

8

-1

3
12
20

13

-1

4

5
20

20

14

-1

-1

7
-1

15
20

16
20

20

17

-1

8

0

6

0
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A year in review

Net Profit/(Loss) after Tax

Gearing (Net debt/(net debt plus equity))

$’000
40%

5,000
4,500
4,000

30%

3,500
3,000
2,500

20%

2,000
1,500
1,000

10%

500
0
0%
3
-1
12
20

13
20

14

-1

-1

4

5

6
-1

16

15

20

-2,000

20

20

17

-1,500

-1

-1

7

8

-1,000

20

-500

-2,500
-3,000

13
20
12
-

15

14
20
13
-

20
14
-

16
20
15
-

17
20
16
-

18

-3,500
20
17
-

12

Financial and Business Performance

Resource Outlook

VicForests delivered a solid operating performance
in the financial year ended 30 June 2018. The profit
from operations before income tax was $2.6 million
and net profit after tax was $1.2 million. Production
costs decreased by $1.4 million due to lower sawlog
volumes. Other expenses were broadly stable for
the year reflecting the continuing focus on cost
management.

VicForests’ operations are planned, managed,
monitored and reviewed through an integrated
suite of processes and systems. At the strategic
level, VicForests maintains a wood supply model
that forecasts timber supply over a 100-year time
horizon. The model is updated regularly to account
for changes in the resource base and risk factors,
and the results are used to inform future sales and
guide the location of future harvesting activities.

In respect of the balance sheet, financial assets
decreased by $3.9 million due to a reduction in
receivables and the cash balance. The reduction
was largely offset by an increased investment in
non-financial assets, primarily biological timber
assets of $4.4 million. Liabilities decreased by $1.4
million primarily due to repayment of debt of $2.1
million.
VicForests produced a positive operating cash flow
of $6.9 million. This, plus existing cash reserves,
were utilised as follows: $5.0 million was reinvested
into the regeneration of biological assets and $2.1
million was used to retire all remaining debt.

The Resource Outlook forecasts the volume of
ash and mixed species D+ sawlog that can be
commercially and sustainably supplied from
approximately 450,000 hectares of State forests in
eastern Victoria (approximately 6% of the publiclyowned forest in Victoria) in the medium-term. The
process to develop the Resource Outlook considers
how much forest is available for harvesting, how
much timber is currently contained in those forests,
how much those forests will grow over time, how
much timber is likely to be produced at the time
of harvest and the risks that could impact future
timber resource availability.
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The current Resource Outlook (2016-17) forecasts
that approximately 132,000m3 per annum of ash
D+ sawlog can be supplied from the available State
forest in the medium-term and considers a number
of forecast risk factors to log supply. It also forecasts
a medium-term supply of mixed species D+ sawlog
from eastern Victoria in the range of 100,000m3 to
115,000m3 per annum
The transition from the 2016-17 ash sawlog harvest
levels of 225,000m3 per annum to the lower levels of
ash sawlog is being implemented as a staged stepdown over the medium-term.
In the first stage, being the period 2017-18 to 202021, ash D+ sawlog supply levels will be 153,000m3
per annum. The second stage, from 2020-21, will
then see a step-down in ash D+ sawlog supply
levels to approximately 130,000m3 per annum.
This has been adjusted from the higher forecast of
132,000m3 per annum to account for the higher
supply levels in the first stage.

Sales 2017-18
During 2017-18 strong market conditions continued
and demand exceeded our capacity to supply.
Domestic demand for native hardwood remains
strong with sales limited by resource availability.
VicForests sold 476,705m³ of sawlog, 768,179m³
of residual log and 48,418m³ of other products,
generating approximately $101 million in sales
across all its operations including community
forestry. The “other” products category is
predominantly firewood but also includes fencing
timbers, poles and woodchop logs.
Production of sawlog was down from the previous
year as VicForests transitioned to lower ash species
harvest levels.
In terms of timber type, sales of mixed species*
logs, both as sawlog and residual log, increased in
volume over the previous year and as a proportion
of sales.
Low grade log and pulpwood were supplied for
pallet and other sawn product manufacture as well
as pulp and paper production and log and woodchip
export. Firewood log sales increased significantly
compared to the previous year.

VicForests’ customers continued to provide valued
employment and economic activity in regional
Victoria and metropolitan Melbourne, offering
quality, sustainably sourced product sought by
builders, cabinet and furniture makers and others.
Meanwhile Australia’s significant trade deficit in
timber products remained and the environmental
impacts of Australia’s timber resource consumption
continued to shift offshore into regions that are
often not subject to the stringent regulations that
exist in Australia.
The ownership of Australia’s largest hardwood
sawmill, Australian Sustainable Hardwoods located
at Heyfield, was resolved and a new supply contract
commenced in September 2017.
*Mixed species refers to eucalypt species that
are not one of the 3 ash species (E. regnans, E.
delegatensis or E. nitens).

Community Forestry Operations
Community Forestry operations generate a broad
range of timber products including sawlog, posts,
poles and firewood. Some of the high quality,
specialty and durable species of timbers are made
into high-value furniture and musical instruments.
Most of the operations are conducted in western
Victoria, with the products sold to local businesses
through small scale, low intensity timber harvesting
operations.
December 2017 marked the third year of
Community Forestry operations managed by
VicForests. We are preparing a report reviewing
these first three years to evaluate the operations
and set our future objectives. The broad objectives
will focus on the specialty timbers, continuing to
improve safety, environmental performance and
efficiency while maintaining the community focus.
Most of the timber sold through Community
Forestry operations is now sold at prices set by an
open market process. The revenue generated from
VicForests’ Community Forestry operations in 201718 was approximately $0.7 million.
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A year in review

Forest Contracting

Engaging with our stakeholder groups

In 2017-18, the forest contractors were affected by
two events. Firstly, timber intake from one customer
was substantially reduced. As a result, the planned
thinning operations in regrowth were also delayed.
Secondly, the Timber Release Plan (TRP) was not
approved as expected. This, and therefore the lack
of coupes available for harvest, resulted in two
contractors in the Central Highlands being stood
down for a significant period.

Our key stakeholder groups include: government
at all levels, non-government organisations,
community-based groups, Traditional Owners, our
staff, contractors, industry bodies and individuals.
In 2017-18, we met with many organisations and
individuals and answered hundreds of enquiries. We
trialled independent social impact scoping studies
this year to explore new ways to engage with
communities.

Despite these two events, VicForests determined
that it was appropriate to extend harvest and haul
contracts in the Central Highlands through to
2020 to retain capacity and to line up the expiry
of contracts with the anticipated extensions of the
Regional Forest Agreements. One contract was not
extended and therefore expired.

In 2017-18, VicForests released its Aboriginal
Engagement Policy, which recognises the
opportunity for Traditional Owners and their
communities to play a greater role in the
management of Victoria’s State forests. We are
committed to identifying and exploring practical
and meaningful collaborations with Traditional
Owners. In March 2018, we engaged the Gunaikurnai
Land and Water Aboriginal Corporation to provide
fire-fighting services to support our coupe
regeneration program.

Most of these contracts were set to expire on 30
June 2019, thus the extensions have added only
one year to the contractors’ planned works. While
the extensions were gratefully accepted by the
contractors, the recent inability of VicForests
to offer longer term contracts has resulted in
contractors delaying equipment upgrades, either by
choice or due to the lack of support from financial
institutions. This in turn has begun to impact
VicForests’ productivity. The one-year extensions do
not eliminate this issue, but rather delay the ability
of contractors to upgrade equipment and to provide
certainty for their workforce. Some contractors
are reporting loss of staff as the lack of certainty
becomes more evident to the workforce.

Stakeholders
While stakeholder relations are largely positive,
we recognise that harvesting generates strong
and opposing views in the community. We strive
to meet the expectations of environmental
interests by consulting with communities, adhering
to strict regulatory and ecological controls that
govern harvesting operations, and explaining how
biodiversity and forest values are managed.
Our stakeholder engagement work focuses on
communities. We provide the opportunity to input
into our operations and advise them of planned
operations. By aiming to balance the social,
ecological and economic factors that affect
harvesting, we mitigate impacts where possible.

While our relationships with local government are
mostly positive, the South Gippsland Shire took
a vote this year to oppose VicForests’ harvesting.
We continue to engage with the Shire and a local
community group.
We regularly brief local Members of Parliament and
keep the Minister for Agriculture and the Treasurer
appropriately informed of our operations. We have
a constructive relationship with the Department
of Treasury and Finance, and the Department
of Economic Development, Jobs, Transport and
Resources (DEDJTR), who oversee our legislative
framework. We meet frequently with regional and
policy staff of our regulator, the Department of
Environment, Land, Water and Planning (DELWP)
and strive for continuous improvement in meeting
our obligations.
VicForests continues to engage in discussions with
non-government organisations regarding protected
or endangered species and timber harvesting. We
have a constructive relationship with groups such as
Planet Ark, who support and promote wood as the
environmental product of choice. We also actively
engage with industry bodies including: Victorian
Association of Forest Industries, Wood Products
Victoria, Australian Forest Products Association,
Forest and Wood Products Australia, Australian
Forest Contractors Association, and the Forest
Industry Council.
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Pre-harvest Surveys

Biodiversity and Forest Research

During 2017-18, VicForests continued its program
of pre-harvest surveys investigating the presence or
absence of sensitive flora and fauna. We engaged
contractors to perform surveys across 120 harvest
coupes. A highlight of these pre-harvest surveys was
the identification of 19 new individual Leadbeater’s
possum colonies.

Two collaborative research projects funded by
the Australian Research Council continued into
their fourth year in 2017-18. In collaboration
with the University of Tasmania and Sustainable
Timber Tasmania, one project aims to evaluate the
effectiveness of acoustic monitors by accumulating
bird vocalisations for the application of mathematic
algorithms and frequency sonograms.

VicForests also developed internal capacity to
perform flora and fauna surveys, securing permits
from both DEDJTR’s Wildlife and Small Institutions
Animal Ethics Committee (WSIEC) and DELWP in
association with the Flora and Fauna Guarantee Act
1988.
In West Gippsland, VicForests conducted spotlight
surveys using thermal imaging cameras, recording
27 new Leadbeater’s possum colonies. In East
Gippsland our surveys recorded several owl species,
long-footed potoroo, greater gliders, yellow-bellied
gliders, slender tree fern, and many more common
forest-dwelling species.

This will enable analysis of thousands of hours of
bird call data. VicForests engaged BirdLife Australia
to assist and members of the public are also
participating.
In collaboration with the University of Melbourne
scientists, another project is investigating a range
of site-specific forest management plans that can
accelerate the development of key features of
Leadbeater’s possum habitat.
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Leadbeater’s Possum Conservation
The Leadbeater’s Possum was listed as critically
endangered by the Federal Government in 2014,
principally due to the loss of species habitat from
the 2009 bushfires.
During 2017-18, VicForests continued to implement
actions associated with the Leadbeater’s Possum
Advisory Group (LBPAG) recommendations.
Since 2014, there have been approximately 657
Leadbeater’s Possum colonies identified across
State Forests, Parks and Reserve lands in Victoria.
On State Forests General Management Zone
(GMZ), 555 colony sites are protected with a
200 metre Timber Harvest Exclusion Zone. The
remaining colony sites are protected wholly within
Park boundaries or a combination of Park, Formal
Reserve and Special Protection Zone tenures. Of
the 555 on GMZ, 96 were identified prior to 2014.
Hence, 459 Leadbeater’s Possum colony sites have
been protected under the LBPAG recommendations
to date. Leadbeater’s observations were recorded
more often in mixed age-class stands of 1939 fire
regrowth and younger timber harvesting regrowth
than in old growth forests, which were expected to
be the preferred, if not exclusive, habitat.
A VicForests internal study investigating
Leadbeater’s possum use of varying forest
age classes and types (mixed-species or ashdominated) found six new individual colonies
located up to 15 km outside the previously known
range. Observations show they are present in both
mixed-species and ash-dominated forests.
Further investigation of their habitat is underway,
documenting the retention of hollow-bearing trees
in informal reserve areas and the use of artificial
hollows. This work continues to help us understand
how well they respond to varying densities of
hollows across various landscape conditions.

Greater Glider Research
In June 2017, the greater glider was listed as
threatened under the Flora and Fauna Guarantee Act
1988 (FFG). A workshop was conducted by DELWP in
July 2017 to discuss current knowledge and threats
to the species. Timber harvesting was identified as
one of the major threats impacting the species, yet
it was also highlighted that there are significant
gaps in knowledge surrounding species population
trends, distribution and habitat suitability. Strategies
have since been proposed to help gain better
knowledge of their ecological requirements and
improve population viability and survival.
To help fill knowledge gaps and contribute to
improving understanding of the species, VicForests
began a pilot research project in East Gippsland

in January 2018, developed in consultation with
scientists at DELWP, the Arthur Rylah Institute and
the Forestry Corporation of NSW. A complementary
project with the University of Melbourne is also
examining how habitat suitability for the greater
glider may be predicted using remote sensing
technology. These projects do not harm greater
gliders.

Sustainability Charter
The Victorian Government’s Sustainability Charter
for Victoria’s State Forests lists seven objectives
for the sustainable management of state forests.
These include the maintenance and conservation
of biodiversity, forest ecosystems, soil and water,
while maintaining and enhancing the many socioeconomic benefits of state forests to Victorian
communities.
In accordance with the Sustainable Forests (Timber)
Act 2004, we develop key targets and initiatives to
meet these objectives. Implementation is supported
by our Ecologically Sustainable Forest Management
System, certified to the Australian Forestry Standard
(AFS), AS 4708, and through our annual Corporate
and Business Plans that outline VicForests’ key
initiatives and strategies.

Certification
Third-party certification provides an independent,
objective and standardised measure of forest
management sustainability. VicForests has
maintained Sustainable Forest Management
certification to the Australian Forestry Standard
(AFS), AS 4708 since February 2007. The Responsible
Wood Certification Scheme administers the AFS
standard, which is endorsed by the Programme for
the Endorsement of Forest Certification: the world’s
largest forest certification scheme.
The Community Forestry program was first included
within the scope of our AFS certification in 2016.
Our most recent AFS surveillance audits were in
July 2017 (East Gippsland) and May 2018 (West
Gippsland and Western Victoria). VicForests will
undergo an AFS re-certification audit in January
2019.
During December 2017, SCS Global audited
our Eastern Forest Management Area (east of
the Hume Highway) and conducted a pre-audit
assessment for the Western Forest Area Community
Forestry program against the Forest Stewardship
Council (FSC) Controlled Wood Standard [FSCSTD-30-010 Version 2-0]. This audit and preassessment followed on from a 2013 Eastern Forest
Management Area FSC pre-assessment, as part of
our intention to achieve dual certification (AFS and
FSC).
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VicForests is committed to achieving FSC
certification. Next steps involve a thorough
analysis of potential changes to the business.
Apart from dual certification providing additional
recognition of our sustainable forest management
practices, FSC certification will benefit our
customers by enabling them to offer FSC-certified
products to the market.

Legal Proceedings
In November 2017, Friends of Leadbeater’s
Possums Inc. filed a claim in the Federal Court
against VicForests. The claim alleges that
VicForests has failed to comply with certain
provisions of the Environment, Protection and
Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999 in relation to 66
coupes on the Central Highlands. VicForests denies
the claims and the matter has been set down for a
hearing in February 2019.
In October 2017, Fauna and Flora Research
Collective Inc. filed a claim in the Supreme
Court of Victoria against the Department of
Environment, Land, Water and Planning (DELWP)
and VicForests.

The claim alleges that the DELWP has failed to
protect the required amount of old growth forest
in the East Gippsland Forest Management Area.
The Department denies the claim which has been
set down for a hearing in December 2018.
In March 2018, the DELWP issued a summons in
the Orbost Magistrates Court against VicForests.
The summons alleges that in March 2016,
VicForests undertook harvesting operations in the
Bemm State Forest which were not authorised.
VicForests denies the allegations. A preliminary
hearing to determine the validity of the charge
was heard in late August 2018 and on 30 August
2018, the Court ruled that the charge against
VicForests was invalid and ordered that the case
be dismissed.
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A year in review

Progress against 2017-18 Strategic Initiatives
2017-18 Strategic Initiatives

Continuing to improve safety
across all our operations

Progress

Continuing

•
•
•

Confirm the future scale of our
operations

Continuing

•

•

•

•

Forests Management solution

Continuing

•
•

•

Continue to develop our
organisational capacity

Continuing

•
•
•

Ongoing decrease in Lost Time Injuries (LTIs)
and increase in incident reporting.
Step change improvement in contractor safety
management systems and performance.
Refresher training delivered to all staff on
bullying, harassment and discrimination.
Development of new information from Light
Detection and Ranging (LIDAR) and other
remote sensed data leading to enhanced
planning and efficiency.
Continuous improvement to timber resource
modelling with the Integrated Planning system
now progressed to the Tactical Scheduler stage
for operational testing and trials.
Timber Sales Agreement for a Gippsland
mill was executed. Supply commenced in
September, 2017.
Thinnings planning and services procurement
near completion.
Ecological and forest management research
continues.
VicForests continues to actively engage
with key stakeholders relating to the forest
management and regulatory framework and
potential solutions.
Work continues in the pursuit of FSC
Certification.
Implementation of a new business structure
Development and implementation of a Gender
Equity Plan.
Implementation of Innovation as a new
strategic priority during the year.
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WORKFORCE

Data

Occupational Health and Safety
The level of ‘Near Miss’ reporting remained at
industry leading levels during 2017-18, with
staff submitting 235 reports and contractors
submitting 175 reports. These numbers continue
to demonstrate the strong reporting culture that
VicForests and contractors have built.

Internal audits indicate that regionally based staff
undertake significantly more physical work in remarking planned harvest areas due to the impact
of threatened species detections on harvesting
schedules. This has created a considerable increase
in work pressure and workload. In response,
VicForests has reviewed all aspects of operational
and coupe planning.

Although investigations are at an all-time high,
which is a credit to VicForests’ strong safety culture,
VicForests will be implementing a new leading
indicator for safety in 2018-19 of investigating at
least 50% of high risk near misses. We will also
continue to report on a targeted ratio of near miss
reports to injury reports as another lead indicator
for safety. These leading indicators will support the
traditional targets of lost time injury reduction and
will be a key driver to VicForests’ goal of Zero Harm
and our desire to be an industry leader in safety
culture.

During 2017-18 other OHS improvements included:

One Lost Time Injury for staff and three for
contractors were recorded during 2017-18. All
injuries were investigated. The single staff injury
resulted from a staff member climbing over a
fence. All three contractor incidents were related
to harvesting operations, mechanical falling, log
preparation and unloading. The Lost Time Injury
Frequency Rate for staff decreased from 9.90 to 4.71
while for contractors the rate decreased from 7.76
to 5.62.
The third-party audit program for contractors
again proved valuable, especially when combined
with the findings from audits conducted by
VicForests. Contractors were responsive to the
audits by implementing corrective actions promptly.
VicForests continued to report on the lead OHS
indicator of responsiveness to audit corrective
actions.
A key theme of this year has been the development
of leading indicators for safety and although
establishing lead indicators is challenging,
VicForests considers the effort to be worthwhile.
There has been impressive leadership shown by the
Operations Management Team in responding to the
third-party audit actions, and their commitment to
the investigation targets is a further demonstration
of this leadership.

•

a 25% reduction in contractor Lost Time Injuries,
making this the lowest number in the 12 years of
VicForests recording

•

the further refinement to the injury prevention
program with sessions delivered targeting hip
and knee areas

•

a 50% reduction in staff Lost Time Injuries

•

development of mobile applications for incident
reporting and vehicle pre-operational checks

•

installation of interlocking guarding at the
Orbost North Seed Facility

•

use of dynamic road signage on key haulage
routes

•

haulage training with a focus on safety features
including: Electronic Braking Systems (EBS),
rollover prevention and fatigue monitoring.

In 2018-19 VicForests and our contractors
will continue to focus on the management of
subcontractors, building on the strong work of
2017-18. We will also continue our focus on the
mental health, injury prevention and wellbeing of all
staff.
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Contractor 12-Year Incident Summary
Lost Time Injury
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80
70
60
50
40
30
20
10

07
/2
0

08

06

/2
0

20

20

20

07

/2
0
08

09
20

20

20

09

10
/2
0

11
10

/2
0
11

12
20

20

/2
0

12

13
/2
0

14
13

14
20

15
20

16
20

/2
0

/2
0

16
/2
0

17
/2
0

18
/2
0
17
20

15

0

Employee 14-Year Incident Summary
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Note: Injury severity relates to the amount of time away from work after an injury. The contractor
rate has spiked considerably due to the orthopaedic nature of these injuries and the long
recovery periods associated with them.
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VicForests Enterprise Bargaining
Agreement
The VicForests Enterprise Bargaining Agreement
2015 is due to expire on 1 May 2019.
VicForests is committed to commence
negotiations six months prior to the expiry of the
existing agreement.

Employment and Conduct
Principles
VicForests’ Code of Conduct articulates the
organisation’s expectations of employee
behaviours, which is consistent with public-sector
employment and conduct principles. VicForests
is committed to upholding the Charter of Human
Rights and Responsibilities and applying merit and
equity principles when appointing employees.
Our selection processes ensure that applicants
are assessed and evaluated fairly and equitably on
the basis of the key selection criteria and other
accountabilities.

Learning and Development
VicForests staff completed 867 training activities
over the year that were recorded in the learning
management system (ELMO). Training activities
were delivered internally by subject matter experts
and through accredited external training providers.
A combination of face-to-face and online delivery
methods were utilised across the organisation.
Training activities were completed across a broad
range of topics including: Rainforest Awareness,
FSC Controlled Wood, Resilience, Prevention
of Bullying, Harassment and Discrimination,
Aboriginal Engagement, VicForests Key Messages
and refresher courses on VicForests Code of
Conduct and Occupational Health and Safety.
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Gender Equity

Leadership and Development

The Gender Equity Reference Group successfully
implemented the following gender equity
initiatives during the 2017-18 financial year under
the corresponding four key strategic themes.

•

Culture

•

Salaries of all female employees were reviewed
in comparison to like roles.

•

The Career Level Review Instructions were
reviewed and updated to ensure that the
process is clear, understood and communicated
to staff.

•

VicForests implemented a Gender Equity Policy
for VicForests, and the VicForests Gender Equity
Strategy and Action Plan for the period 2017 to
2019.

•

We built significant engagement around gender
equity amongst middle management and staff.

•

We successfully rolled out Annual Women’s Day
events in each region.

Recruitment and Retention
•

All interview panels now have gender balance
at appropriate seniority.

•

Flexible work arrangements have been fostered
for all staff by the implementation of Individual
Flexibility Agreements.

There was increased attendance and
participation from women across the business
at Senior Management Team meetings.

Remuneration

Employment Details
(a) Details of employment levels in June 2017 and
June 2018
The table on the following page discloses the head
count and full-time staff equivalent (FTE) of all
active employees of VicForests employed in the
last full pay period in June of the current reporting
period (2018) and in the last full pay period in June
of the previous reporting period (2017).
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June 2018
Head count

June 2017

Full-time

Part-time

FTE(i)

Full-time

Part-time

FTE(i)

Male

81

4

83.1

77

2

77.8

Female

25

18

38.3

25

17

36.5

n

n

n

n

n

n

106

22

121.4

102

19

114.3

15-24

7

1

7.4

7

1

7.4

25-34

17

0

17.0

15

3

16.2

35-44

26

9

32.5

27

6

31.3

45-54

28

5

32.0

29

3

31.4

55-64

26

4

29.0

21

4

24.0

2

3

3.5

3

2

4.0

106

22

121.4

102

19

114.3

1

0

1

0.4

0

1

0.4

2

7

1

7.6

2

2

2.8

3

23

8

28.3

22

7

26.8

4

35

7

40.1

37

4

39.9

5

21

3

23.4

23

4

25.6

6

13

2

14.6

11

1

11.8

99

22

114.4

95

19

107.3

1

0

1.0

1

0

1.0

6

0

6.0

6

0

6.0

106

22

121.4

102

19

114.3

Gender

Self-described(v)
Demographic data

Total

Breakdown by age

65+
Total

Classification data

Career level(ii)

Sub-total
Other

(iii)

Executives
Total

(iv)

Notes:
(i)

FTE = Full-time equivalent is based on paid working
hours of 38 ordinary hours per week over the 52
weeks for a reporting period

(ii)

Career level per the VicForests Enterprise Agreement
2015

(iii) Other = non-executive employees at a career level
greater than 6
(iv) Executives includes the Accountable Officer who is a
paid full-time employee of VicForests
(v)

No data collected
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(b) Annualised total salary, by $20,000 bands, for
executives and other senior non-executive
staff(i)
The following table discloses the annualised
total salary for senior employees of VicForests,
excluding the Accountable Officer(ii), categorised
by classification. The salary amount is reported as
the full-time annualised salary as at the last full pay
period in June 2018.

Executives

Other

Number

Number(i)

$180,000 - $199,999

3

0

$200,000 - $219,999

1

0

$220,000 - $239,999

1

0

Total

5

0

Income band (salary)(iii)

Notes:
(i)

Due to privacy considerations the income band for
the one senior non-executive staff member has not
been disclosed.

(ii)

The total remuneration received or receivable by
the Accountable Officer in connection with the
management of VicForests during the reporting
period is separately disclosed in Note 8.4 to the
Financial Statements.

(iii) The salaries reported are for the full financial year,
at a 1-FTE rate, and exclude superannuation.
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OTHER

Disclosures
Local Jobs First - Victorian Industry
Participation Policy
The Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003
requires Departments and public-sector bodies to
report on the implementation of the Local Jobs First
- Victorian Industry Participation Policy (Local Jobs
First - VIPP). Departments and public-sector bodies
are required to apply the Local Jobs First - VIPP in
all procurement activities valued at $3 million or
more in metropolitan Melbourne and for state-wide
projects, or $1 million or more for procurement
activities in regional Victoria.
During 2017-18 VicForests did not:
•

commence or complete any contracts where a
VIPP or Local Industry Development Plan (LIDP)
was required;

•

engage any small to medium sized businesses
as either the principal contractor or part of the
supply chain; or

•

enter into any grant or design contracts.

Consultant

Government Advertising Expenditure
No Government advertising expenditure was
incurred by VicForests during the reporting period.

Consultancy Expenditure
Details of consultancies (valued at $10,000 or
greater)
In 2017-18 there were six consultancies where the
total fees payable to the consultants were $10,000
or greater. The total expenditure incurred during
2017-18 in relation to these consultancies was
$187,950 (excluding GST). Details of individual
consultancies are outlined below.
Details of consultancies (valued under $10,000)
In 2017-18, there were no consultancies engaged
during the year, where the total fees payable to
the individual consultancies was less than $10,000
(excluding GST). The total expenditure incurred
during 2017-18 in relation to these consultancies
was $Nil (excluding GST).

Purpose of consultancy

Total approved
project fee

Expenditure

Future

2017-18

expenditure

$’000

$’000

$’000

145

58

0

Deloitte Access
Economics Pty Ltd

Assessment of impact of VicForests’
native timber operations in Victoria

Fitzgerald Applied
Sociology

Social impact assessment of capacity
building

32

32

0

Indufor Asia Pacific
(Australia) Pty Ltd

Business development advice

16

16

0

Indufor Asia Pacific
(Australia) Pty Ltd

Independent commercial advice

26

26

0

Visits Pty Ltd

ICT services review

18

18

0

William Buck

Independent financial advice

38

38

0

275

188

0

Total consultancy
expenditure
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Information and Communication Technology Expenditure
For the 2017-18 reporting period, VicForests had a total ICT expenditure of $1,334,827
(excluding GST), with the details shown below.

Non-BAU ICT expenditure related to
projects to create or enhance ICT capabilities
Non-BAU ICT
operational
expenditure
(OPEX)

Non-BAU ICT
capital
expenditure
(CAPEX)

Total ICT
expenditure

BAU ICT
expenditure

Total
Non-BAU ICT
expenditure

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

1,335

1,335

0

0

0

ICT expenditure refers to VicForests’ costs in
providing business enabling ICT services within
the current reporting period. It comprises Business
as Usual (BAU) ICT expenditure and Non-Business
as Usual (Non-BAU) ICT expenditure. Non-BAU ICT
expenditure relates to extending or enhancing
VicForests’ current ICT capabilities. BAU ICT
expenditure is all remaining ICT expenditure which
primarily relates to ongoing activities to operate
and maintain the current ICT capability.

The Act allows VicForests to refuse access,
either fully or partially, to certain documents
or information. Examples of documents that
may not be accessed include: some internal
working documents; documents covered by legal
professional privilege, such as legal advice; personal
information about other people; and information of
a business, of a commercial or financial nature, that
would be likely to expose VicForests unreasonably
to disadvantage.

Disclosure of Major Contracts

Freedom of Information (FoI) requests must be
determined within 30 days. In some cases, this time
may be extended.

In 2017-18 VicForests entered into one contract
with a value over $10 million. This contract was
with Australian Sustainable Hardwoods Pty Ltd.
Contractual details have not been disclosed for
this contract as disclosure is exempted under
the Freedom of Information Act 1982 and/or
government guidelines.

Compliance with the Freedom of
Information Act 1982
The Freedom of Information Act 1982 allows the
public a right of access to documents held by
VicForests. The purpose of the Act is to extend as
far as possible the right of the community to access
information held by government departments, local
councils, Ministers and other bodies subject to the
Act.
An applicant has a right to apply for access to
documents held by VicForests. This comprises
documents created by VicForests or supplied to
VicForests by an external organisation or individual,
and may also include maps, films, microfiche,
photographs, computer printouts, computer discs,
tape recordings and videotapes. Information about
the type of material produced by VicForests is
available on VicForests’ website under the Legal
section.

If an applicant is not satisfied by a decision made
by VicForests, under section 49A of the Act, they
have the right to seek a review by the Office of the
Victorian Information Commissioner (OVIC) within
28 days of receiving a decision letter.
Making a Request
FoI requests can be made by mail or email to
VicForests Freedom of Information Officer. An
application fee applies. Access charges may also
apply, for example, for photocopying and search
and retrieval charges or where the document pool is
large and the search for material is time consuming.
When making an FoI request, applicants should
ensure requests are in writing, and clearly identify
what types of material / documents are being
sought. The request should be accompanied by the
application fee (the fee may be waived in certain
circumstances).
Requests for documents in the possession of
VicForests should be addressed to:
Freedom of Information Officer
VicForests
GPO Box 191
Melbourne VIC 3001
Email: vfs.admin@vicforests.com.au
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FoI statistics / timeliness
For the 12 months ending 30 June 2018, VicForests
received seven applications. Of these requests,
three were from a Member of Parliament, two were
from members of the public and two were from a
private company.
Six requests were granted full or partial access as
the requests each concerned multiple documents.
Of these, one was refused on the basis that the
document requested did not exist, one was refused
on the basis that the document was exempt under
the Act, and one is yet to be finalised.
The average time taken to finalise requests in 201718 was 30 days.

Compliance with the Building Act
1993
VicForests does not own or control any government
buildings and consequently is exempt from
notifying its compliance with the building and
maintenance provisions of the Building Act 1993.

Competitive Neutrality Policy
Under the National Competition Policy (NCP), the
guiding legislative principle is that legislation,
including future legislative proposals, should not
restrict competition unless it can be demonstrated
that:
•

During 2017-18, two requests were subject to
a complaint / internal review by OVIC with nil
progressing to VCAT.

the benefits of the restriction to the community
as a whole outweigh the costs; and

•

the objectives of the legislation can only be
achieved by restricting competition.

Further information

VicForests continues to comply with the
requirements of the NCP.

Further information regarding the operation
and scope of FoI can be obtained from the Act,
regulations made under the Act, and
www.ovic.vic.gov.au

Competitive neutrality requires government
businesses to ensure where services compete, or
potentially compete with the private sector, any
advantage arising solely from their government
ownership be removed if it is not in the public
interest. Government businesses are required
to cost and price these services as if they were
privately owned. Competitive neutrality policy
supports fair competition between public and
private business and provides government
businesses with a tool to enhance decisions on
resource allocation. This policy does not override
other policy objectives of government and focuses
on efficiency in the provision of service.
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Compliance with the Protected
Disclosure Act 2012
The Protected Disclosure Act 2012 encourages
and assists people in making disclosures of
improper conduct by public officers and public
bodies. The Act provides protection to people who
make disclosures in accordance with the Act and
establishes a system for matters disclosed to be
investigated and rectified.
VicForests does not tolerate improper conduct
by employees, nor the taking of reprisals against
those who have come forward to disclose such
conduct. It is committed to ensuring transparency
and accountability in its administrative and
management practices and supports the making
of disclosures that reveal corrupt conduct, conduct
involving a substantial mismanagement of public
resources, or conduct involving a substantial risk to
public health and safety or the environment.
VicForests will take all reasonable steps to protect
people who make such disclosures from any
detrimental action in reprisal for making the
disclosure. It will also afford natural justice to the
person who is the subject of the disclosure, to the
extent it is legally possible.
Reporting Procedures

Disclosures under the Protected Disclosure Act 2012
No assessable disclosures were made by an
individual to VicForests and notified to IBAC during
the 2017-18 financial year (2016-17: Nil).

Compliance with the Carers
Recognition Act 2012
VicForests has taken all practical measures
to comply with its obligations under the Act.
These include considering the care relationships
principles set out in the Act when setting policies
and providing services. VicForests’ policies
support carers to balance work and their caring
responsibilities. Carer’s leave is provided for in our
Enterprise Agreement as are a number of flexible
working conditions that support staff with these
responsibilities.

Additional Information Available on
Request
In compliance with the requirements of the
Standing Directions of the Minister for Finance,
details in respect of the items listed below have
been retained by VicForests and are available on
request, subject to the provisions of the Freedom of
Information Act 1982.
•

Declarations of pecuniary interests have been
duly completed by all relevant officers.

•

No shares are held by key management
personnel as nominee or held beneficially in a
statutory authority or subsidiary.

•

Annual Reports and Sustainability Reports are
available from VicForests’ website
www.vicforests.com.au

•

Details of changes in prices, fees, charges,
rates and levies charged by VicForests cannot
be disclosed due to confidentiality clauses in
underlying agreements with customers.

VicForests cannot receive disclosures made under
the Act. All such disclosures should therefore be
made directly to IBAC.

•

There were no major external reviews carried
out on VicForests during the 2017-18 financial
year.

Further Information

•

The Protected Disclosure Policy and Procedures,
which outline the system for reporting disclosures
of improper conduct or detrimental action by
VicForests or any of its employees and/or officers,
are available on VicForests’ website www.vicforests.
com.au.

There were no major research and development
activities costing more than $100,000 for a
single project carried out by VicForests during
the 2017-18 financial year.

•

All overseas visits undertaken by VicForests’
personnel during the 2017-18 financial year
related to training / professional development.

•

Details of major promotional, public relations
and marketing activities undertaken by

Disclosures of improper conduct or detrimental
action by VicForests or any of its employees and / or
officers may be made to the Independent BroadBased Anti-Corruption Commission (IBAC):
Level 1, North Tower
459 Collins Street
Melbourne VIC 3000
Internet: www.ibac.vic.gov.au
Email: See the website above for the secure
email disclosure process, which also provides for
anonymous disclosures
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VicForests to develop community awareness of
VicForests and its services are included in the
“Stakeholder Engagement” section of this report.
•

Details of assessments and measures undertaken
to improve the occupational health and safety of
employees during the 2017-18 financial year are
included in the “Workforce Data” section of this
report.

•

Details of lost time through industrial accidents
during the 2017-18 financial year are included
in the “Workforce Data” section of this report.
There was no lost time through industrial
relations disputes within VicForests during the
2017-18 financial year.

•

No major external committees were sponsored
by VicForests during the 2017-18 financial year.

•

Details of all consultancy services and
expenditure are included in this section under
the heading “Consultancy Expenditure”.

Attestation for financial
management compliance with
Ministerial Standing Direction 5.1.4
VicForests Financial Management Compliance
Attestation Statement
I, Nathan Trushell, certify that VicForests has
complied with the applicable Standing Directions
of the Minister for Finance under the Financial
Management Act 1994 and Instructions. VicForests
Audit and Risk Committee has reviewed the
Attestation.

Nathan Trushell
Chief Executive Officer

The information is available on request from:
Freedom of Information Officer
VicForests
GPO Box 191
Melbourne VIC 3001
Email: vfs.admin@vicforests.com.au

Compliance with DataVic Access
Policy
Consistent with the DataVic Access Policy issued by
the Victorian Government in 2012, VicForests has
made datasets available on the DataVic website in
2017-18. Information included in this Annual Report
will also be available at www.data.vic.gov.au in
electronic readable format.

Compliance with Model Financial
Report
This report references the streamlined 201718 Model Report for Victorian Government
Departments (the Model). Use of the Model by
public-sector agencies promotes consistency and
comparability and it has been used as a guide by
VicForests, where and to the extent applicable, for
the 2017-18 annual reporting period.
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Certification of the financial statements
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Auditor-General’s report

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Board of VicForests
Opinion

I have audited the financial report of VicForests (the entity) which comprises the:
•
•
•
•
•
•

balance sheet as at 30 June 2018
comprehensive operating statement for the year then ended
statement of changes in equity for the year then ended
cash flow statement for the year then ended
notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies
certification of the financial statements.

In my opinion the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the entity as at 30 June 2018 and their financial performance and cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with the financial reporting requirements of Part 7 of the
Financial Management Act 1994 and applicable Australian Accounting Standards.
Basis for
Opinion

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the
Australian Auditing Standards. I further describe my responsibilities under that Act and
those standards in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section
of my report.
My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are
independent of the entity in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting
Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in Victoria. My
staff and I have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for my opinion.

Board’s
responsibilities
for the
financial
report

The Board of the entity is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the
financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Financial
Management Act 1994, and for such internal control as the Board determines is necessary
to enable the preparation and fair presentation of a financial report that is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial report, the Board is responsible for assessing the entity’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless it is inappropriate to do so.
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Auditor’s
responsibilities
for the audit
of the financial
report

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial
report based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:
•

•

•
•

•

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control
evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board
conclude on the appropriateness of the Board’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
entity to cease to continue as a going concern.
evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

I communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that I identify during my audit.

MELBOURNE
26 October 2018

Simone Bohan
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria
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Comprehensive operating statement for the year ended 30 June 2018

Notes

2018

2017

$’000

$’000

Continuing operations
Income from transactions
Sales of forest products

2.2

100,759

103,476

Other income from Victorian Government entities

2.3

7,780

5,928

Interest income

2.4

266

266

182

339

108,987

110,009

Other income
Total income from transactions
Expenses from transactions
Production expenses

3.2

(73,041)

(74,413)

Employee benefits expense

3.3

(15,569)

(13,938)

Roading expenses

3.4

(6,622)

(6,457)

Depreciation and amortisation

4.1

(4,007)

(5,142)

Borrowing expenses

6.1.1

(27)

(146)

Other operating expenses

3.5

(7,108)

(8,378)

(106,374)

(108,474)

Total expenses from transactions
Net result from transactions before income tax

3.6.1

2,613

1,535

Income tax expense on net result from transactions

3.6.1

(787)

(463)

1,826

1,072

0

1,500

Net result from transactions after income tax
Other economic flows included in net result
Gain/(loss) on movement in provision for doubtful contractual
receivables

2.5.1,
8.2

Loss upon revaluation of biological assets

4.3, 8.2

(234)

(6,866)

Write down to net realisable value of logs in inventory

8.2

(623)

(668)

Loss upon revaluation of long service leave provision

8.2

(10)

(14)

Loss on disposal of non-financial physical and intangible assets

8.2

(2)

(12)

(869)

(6,060)

261

1,818

(608)

(4,242)

1,218

(3,170)

Other economic flows included in net result before income tax
Income tax benefit relating to other economic flows

3.6.1

Total other economic flows included in net result after income tax
Net result from continuing operations after income tax
Other economic flows - other comprehensive income items that
will not be reclassified to net result after income tax
Movement in asset revaluation reserve due to asset disposal

6.4.2

0

(18)

Income tax benefit on items that will not be reclassified to net result
after income tax

6.4.2

0

5

0

(13)

1,218

(3,183)

Total economic flows - other comprehensive income net of
income tax
Comprehensive result

The above Comprehensive operating statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Balance sheet as at 30 June 2018

Notes

2018

2017

$’000

$’000

Assets
Financial assets
Cash and deposits

6.2, 7.1

968

2,140

Receivables

2.5, 7.1

24,596

27,368

25,564

29,508

Total financial assets
Non-financial assets
Biological assets

4.3, 7.3.1

43,502

39,065

Inventories

3.9

10,274

9,313

Property, plant and equipment

4.4, 7.3.2

5,962

7,017

Tax assets

3.6.2

2,560

3,250

480

322

Total non-financial assets

62,778

58,967

Total assets

88,342

88,475

Other non-financial assets

Liabilities
Payables

3.7, 7.1

10,047

10,924

Borrowings

6.1, 7.1

0

2,143

Employee benefits provisions

3.3.2

4,306

3,960

Other provisions

3.8

2,863

1,720

Tax liabilities

3.6.2

6,145

5,352

Other liabilities

5.2

1,173

1,786

Total liabilities

24,534

25,885

Net assets

63,808

62,590

Equity
Contributed capital

6.4.1

45,000

45,000

Physical asset revaluation reserve

6.4.2

2,645

2,645

Accumulated surplus

16,163

14,945

Net worth

63,808

62,590

The above Balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 30 June 2018
Contributed
capital

Asset
revaluation
reserve

Accumulated
surplus

Total equity

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

45,000

2,658

18,102

65,760

Net result after income tax for the
year

0

0

(3,170)

(3,170)

Other comprehensive income net
of income tax for the year

0

(13)

0

(13)

Transfer to accumulated surplus
on derecognition of asset
revaluation reserve (net of
income tax)

0

0

13

13

Balance at 30 June 2017

45,000

2,645

14,945

62,590

Balance at 1 July 2017

45,000

2,645

14,945

62,590

0

0

1,218

1,218

45,000

2,645

16,163

63,808

Balance at 1 July 2016

Net result after income tax for the
year
Balance at 30 June 2018

The above Statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Cash flow statement for the year ended 30 June 2018
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

107,040

115,798

14,474

3,108

956

0

383

420

Other receipts

15

222

Total receipts

122,868

119,548

(114,607)

(113,508)

(1,294)

(1,334)

0

(1,097)

(34)

(153)

(115,935)

(116,092)

6,933

3,456

Investment of deposits

(57,881)

(64,439)

Drawdown of deposits

57,881

64,439

Payments for capitalised biological timber assets(ii)

(4,992)

(3,486)

Purchases of property, plant and equipment

(810)

(1,862)

Purchases of intangible assets

(170)

0

10

3

(5,962)

(5,345)

2,440

0

(4,583)

(2,069)

0

(1,502)

Net cash outflow from financing activities

(2,143)

(3,571)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and deposits

(1,172)

(5,460)

2,140

7,600

968

2,140

Notes

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts
Receipts from external customers
Receipts from Victorian Government entities
Refund of income tax

3.6.2

Interest received

Payments
Payments to suppliers and employees(i)
Net GST paid to / refunded by the Australian Taxation Office
Income tax paid

3.6.2

Interest and other costs of finance paid
Total payments
Net cash inflow from operating activities

6.2

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Net cash outflow from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Dividend paid

5.1

Cash and deposits at the beginning of the financial year
Cash and deposits at the end of the financial year

6.2

Notes:
(i)

Payments to suppliers and employees includes payments for logs in inventory.

(ii)

Payments for capitalised biological timber assets includes payments for seed and regeneration materials in
inventory.

The above Cash flow statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Note 1

About this report
Note 1.1 Corporate information
VicForests is a State Owned Enterprise established on 28 October 2003 by the Governor
in Council acting under Section 14 of the State Owned Enterprises Act 1992. VicForests
commenced operations on 1 August 2004. The Board of VicForests is directly
accountable to the Victorian Government through the Minister of Agriculture, and the
Treasurer. Its principal address is Level 12, 461 Bourke Street, Melbourne Victoria 3000.
These annual financial statements represent the audited general purpose financial
statements for VicForests for the financial year ended 30 June 2018 (the ‘reporting
period’) and include the financial position of VicForests as at 30 June 2018 (‘the
reporting date’).
A description of the nature of VicForests operations and its principal activities is
included in the ‘A Year in Review’ Report which does not form part of these financial
statements.

Note 1.2 Compliance information
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the Financial Management Act 1994 (FMA), including the Financial Reporting
Directions (FRDs), and applicable Australian Accounting Standards (AASs) which
include Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).
In particular they are presented in a manner consistent with the requirements of AASB
1049 Whole of Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting.

Note 1.3 Basis of preparation
These financial statements are in Australian dollars, the functional and presentation
currency of VicForests, and the historical cost convention is used unless a different
measurement basis is specifically disclosed in the note associated with the item
measured on a different basis.
The accrual basis of accounting has been applied in preparing these financial
statements, whereby assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses are recognised in
the reporting period to which they relate, regardless of when cash is received or paid.
Accounting policies selected and applied in these financial statements ensure that
the resulting financial information satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability,
thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying transactions or other events is
reported.
Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about financial
information being presented. The significant judgements made in the preparation
of these financial statements are disclosed in the notes where amounts affected by
those judgements are disclosed. Estimates and associated assumptions are based on
professional judgements derived from historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.
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Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate
is revised and also in future periods that are affected by the revision. Judgements and
assumptions made by management in applying AAS that have significant effects on the
financial statements and estimates are referenced under the heading ‘Introduction’ in
the relevant notes and expanded on in Note 7.
These financial statements cover VicForests as an individual reporting entity
and incorporate all activities of VicForests. VicForests has not provided segment
information in relation to its operations as its operations are limited to the harvest,
commercial sale and regrowing of timber from Victoria’s State forests; those
operations being predominantly confined to Victoria.
These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. VicForests is
a for profit entity for the purposes of preparing these financial statements.
All amounts in the report have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars unless
otherwise stated.
Goods and services tax (GST)
•

Income, expenses and assets (excluding trade receivables) are recognised
exclusive of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from
the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). In these circumstances the GST is recognised
as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of expense.

•

Trade receivables and trade payables are stated inclusive of GST. The net amount of
GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a statutory receivable or
statutory payable respectively in the Balance sheet.

•

Cash flows arising from investing and financing activities are disclosed in the Cash
flow statement on a net basis, i.e. exclusive of GST. The GST component of Cash
flows from investing and financing activities is included in the Operating cash flows.
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Note 2

Funding delivery of our services
Introduction
This section provides an account of the income that funds the delivery of VicForests
services and the receivables associated with that income. Income is received from
a variety of sources, including the receipt of special purpose grants to support the
delivery of Victorian Government policy objectives. (See Note 2.3).
Structure
This section includes:
•

Note 2.1

Summary of income that funds the delivery of our services

•

Note 2.2

Sales of forest products

•

Note 2.3

Other income from Victorian Government entities

•

Note 2.4

Interest income

•

Note 2.5

Receivables

•

Note 2.5.1

Movement in the provision for doubtful contractual receivables

Note 2.1
		

Summary of income that funds the delivery of our 		
services

Notes

2018

2017

$’000

$’000

Sales of forest products

2.2

100,759

103,476

Other income from Victorian Government
entities

2.3

7,780

5,928

Interest income

2.4

266

266

182

339

108,987

110,009

Other income
Total income from transactions

Note 2.2 Sales of forest products
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

Sale of sawlogs

51,499

56,802

Sale of residual logs

47,479

45,369

1,781

1,305

100,759

103,476

Sale of other products
Total sales of forest products
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Income from forest products is generated from the sale of graded and ungraded
sawlogs, residual logs and other products including bearer logs, firewood, poles, piles
and posts, seed and all community forestry sales income.
The sale of forest product income is inclusive of harvest and haulage costs recoverable
where applicable and is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of
ownership have passed to the buyer, and the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect
of the transaction, can be reliably measured. Amounts disclosed are net of returns and
taxes paid.
The point at which the majority of the sale of forest product income is billable is
when the product is delivered to the buyer’s facility. Where standing timber is sold,
VicForests incurs no harvesting or haulage expense, whereas in respect of ‘on-truck’
sales VicForests incurs the harvesting expense only. The sale of other products includes
seed sales which are billable when the seed is collected by the buyer and community
forestry sales income which is sold as standing timber or ‘on-truck’.

Note 2.3 Other income from Victorian Government entities
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

5,544

4,100

678

678

6,222

4,778

Reimbursement of expenditure incurred for the
Leadbeater’s Possum recovery program

704

742

Other

854

408

7,780

5,928

Notes

Special purpose grants:
Reimbursement of foregone income for the
Leadbeater’s Possum recovery program
Community forestry

5.2

Sub-total

Total other income from Victorian
Government entities

8.6

VicForests receives income from Victorian Government grants. Income from special
purpose grants (other than contributions by owners) is recognised when VicForests
obtains control over the contribution. VicForests is deemed to have obtained control
when VicForests has satisfied its performance obligations under the terms of the grant.
Grant income in relation to the reimbursement of foregone income for the
Leadbeater’s Possum recovery program is being received as VicForests is unable to
harvest in areas where possums reside. The grant is being recognised over time in
accordance with an agreed sales foregone calculation methodology.
The management of Community forestry activities (predominantly small scale
commercial firewood and timber harvesting) was transferred from the former
Department of Environment and Primary Industries (DEPI) in November 2014.
VicForests received a cash grant from DEPI to partially fund this service for a period
of five years. The grant is being brought to account as income equally over the fiveyear period as VicForests undertakes its performance obligations, with twelve months
bought to account in the current reporting period. The balance will be brought to
account over the remaining years. (See Note 5.2).
In addition, VicForests provides goods and services to other Victorian Government
entities, primarily to the Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning
(DELWP). Goods and services are charged on a cost recovery basis and brought to
account as work is completed. (See Note 8.6 for detail).
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Note 2.4 Interest income
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

Interest on overdue trade receivables

131

134

Interest on deposits at the TCV

112

119

16

9

7

4

266

266

Interest on early payments to harvesting and
haulage contractors
Interest on cash at bank
Total interest income

Interest income includes interest received on deposits held with the Treasury
Corporation of Victoria (TCV) in line with the Victorian Government Centralised
Treasury and Investment Policy which requires deposits to be transacted through the
TCV. Interest income is recognised using the effective interest rate method which
allocates the interest over the relevant period.

Note 2.5 Receivables
Notes

2018

2017

$’000

$’000

11,492

21,843

13,013

5,496

12

19

24,517

27,358

(6)

(6)

24,511

27,352

Contractual receivables
Trade receivables
Victorian Government entities

8.6

Other receivables
Sub-total
Provision for doubtful contractual receivables

2.5.1, 7.1.2

Net contractual receivables

Notes

2018

2017

$’000

$’000

85

10

0

6

85

16

24,596

27,368

24,596

27,368

Statutory receivables
Fuel tax credits, fringe benefits tax and PAYG
withholding tax recoverable from the ATO
Payroll tax recoverable from the SRO
Net statutory receivables
Total receivables

8.6

Represented by
Current

Receivables comprise contractual receivables and statutory receivables.
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Contractual receivables comprise:
•

Trade receivables originating from the sale of forest products and other goods and
services which were billed and unpaid at reporting date;

•

Accrued interest income receivable from the TCV as at reporting date; and

•

Other receivables being amounts to be recovered from employees by way of payroll
deductions in respect of novated motor vehicle lease payments, public transport
ticketing and purchased leave, and monies due upon sale of property, plant and
equipment.

Contractual receivables are recognised initially at fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and subsequently measured at amortised cost, less an
allowance for impaired receivables. (See Note 2.5.1).
A range of trading terms are in place but do not normally exceed thirty days from date
of invoice rendered. Special trading terms have been granted to selected customers in
line with VicForests’ Customer Credit Policy. VicForests trading terms allow for interest
to be charged on unpaid amounts that are not settled within normal trading terms. The
interest rate is the current rate prescribed as per the Penalty Interest Rate Act 1983 or
otherwise agreed. With the exception of the TCV, no interest is receivable on amounts
due from Victorian Government entities.
Contractual receivables are classified as financial instruments as they arise from a
contract. (See Note 7.1). The carrying value of contractual receivables is equal to the
fair value due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.
Statutory receivables comprise fringe benefits tax, PAYG withholding tax, fuel tax
credits and net GST recoverable from the ATO, and payroll tax recoverable from the
Victorian State Revenue Office (SRO). Statutory receivables are not classified as
financial instruments as they do not arise from a contract.

Ageing analysis of contractual receivables
See Note 7.1.2.

Note 2.5.1 Movement in the provision for doubtful contractual receivables
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

Balance at beginning of year

6

1,506

(Decrease)/increase in provision for doubtful
contractual receivables

0

(1,500)

Balance at end of year

6

6

The amount of any impairment is the amount of the receivable considered doubtful.
The movement in the impairment provision for the year is recognised as an other
economic flow in the net result.
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Note 3

The cost of delivering services
Introduction
This section provides an account of the operating expenses incurred by VicForests in
delivering services and outputs and certain assets and liabilities associated with those
expenses. In section 2, the funds that enable the delivery of our services were disclosed
and in this note the operating costs associated with the delivery of those services are
provided.
Structure
This section includes:
•

Note 3.1

Summary of expenses incurred in the delivery of services

•

Note 3.2

Production expenses

•

Note 3.3

Employee benefits expense

•

Note 3.3.1
		

Employee benefits expense in the comprehensive operating 		
statement

•

Note 3.3.2

Employee benefits provisions in the balance sheet

•

Note 3.3.3

Superannuation contributions

•

Note 3.4

Roading expenses

•

Note 3.5

Other operating expenses

•

Note 3.6

Taxation

•

Note 3.6.1

Income tax expense in the comprehensive operating statement

•

Note 3.6.2

Tax assets and liabilities in the balance sheet

•

Note 3.7

Payables

•

Note 3.8

Other provisions

•

Note 3.9

Inventories

Note 3.1 Summary of expenses incurred in the delivery of services

Notes

2018

2017

$’000

$’000

Production expenses

3.2

73,041

74,413

Employee benefits expense

3.3

15,569

13,938

Roading expenses

3.4

6,622

6,457

Other operating expenses

3.5

7,108

8,378

102,340

103,186

Total expenses incurred in the
delivery of services
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Note 3.2 Production expenses
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

Harvesting

35,986

35,862

Haulage

34,442

36,295

2,010

1,765

603

491

73,041

74,413

Third party log purchases
Other
Total production expenses

Production expenses comprise costs primarily incurred with external contractors,
contracted to harvest standing timber and haul the resultant logs to the point-of-sale,
normally the buyer’s facility.
Third party log purchases represent the cost of purchasing timber from an external
party for delivery to VicForests’ customers.

Note 3.3 Employee benefits expense
Note 3.3.1 Employee benefits expense in the comprehensive operating statement

Notes

Salaries
Leave entitlements (annual leave and long
service leave)
Superannuation expense

3.3.3

Termination benefits
Ex-gratia expenses
Employment related taxes and levies
Total employee benefits expense

8.7

2018

2017

$’000

$’000

11,929

10,694

1,460

1,291

1,187

1,135

138

0

5

0

850

818

15,569

13,938

Employee benefits expense comprises:
•

all direct costs related to employment including salaries, leave entitlements, exgratia expenses and payment of termination benefits;

•

Directors’ fees and committee fees;

•

superannuation; and

•

employment related taxes and levies including payroll tax, fringe benefits tax and
WorkCover insurance levies.

V I C FO R E STS A N N UA L R E PO R T 2 0 1 7 - 1 8

In respect of superannuation, the amount recognised in the Comprehensive operating
statement is the employer contributions for members of both defined benefit and
defined contribution superannuation plans that are paid or payable in the reporting
period. VicForests does not recognise any defined benefit liabilities because it has no
legal or constructive obligation to pay future benefits relating to its employees; its
only obligation is to pay superannuation contributions as they fall due. Instead, the
Department of Treasury and Finance (DTF) discloses in its annual financial statements
the net defined benefit cost related to the members of these plans as an administered
liability (on behalf of the State as the sponsoring employer). Refer to the DTF’s annual
financial statements for more detailed disclosures in relation to these plans.
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before normal
retirement date, or when an employee accepts an offer of benefits in exchange
for the termination of employment. Termination benefits are recognised in the
Comprehensive operating statement when VicForests is committed to terminating the
employment of current employees without the possibility of withdrawal.

Note 3.3.2 Employee benefits provisions in the balance sheet
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

37

16

186

73

Current provisions
Employee benefits
Accrued salaries, unused purchased leave
and paid parental leave
Performance bonus provision
Annual leave
··

unconditional and expected to settle
within 12 months

814

721

··

unconditional and expected to settle
after 12 months(i)

124

136

Long service leave
··

unconditional and expected to settle
within 12 months

263

227

··

unconditional and expected to settle
after 12 months(i)

2,168

2,119

3,592

3,292

Total employee benefits
Employee benefits on-costs
··

unconditional and expected to settle
within 12 months

151

138

··

unconditional and expected to settle
after 12 months(i)

348

336

499

474

4,091

3,766

Total employee benefits on-costs
Total current employee benefits and oncosts
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2018

2017

$’000

$’000

187

169

28

25

215

194

4,306

3,960

Non-current provisions
Employee benefits(i)
Employee benefits on-costs
Total non-current employee benefits and
on-costs
Total employee benefits provisions
Note (i): Amounts are measured at present values.

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of salaries, purchased
leave and parental leave, executive officer performance bonuses, annual leave,
long service leave, and salary increases rendered. VicForests has made a number
of assumptions for employee benefit provisions regarding likely tenure of existing
employees, patterns of leave claims, and future salary movements. A further
assumption is required in respect of discount rates, which are independently calculated
and supplied by the Department of Treasury and Finance.
Employee benefits provisions at reporting date are as follows:
•

Executive officer performance bonuses
Performance payments for VicForests executive officers are provided for under
their contract(s) of employment. A liability is recognised and is measured as
the aggregate of the amounts accrued under the terms of the contracts to the
reporting date.

•

Annual leave
Liabilities for annual leave are recognised in the provision for employee benefits as
‘current liabilities’ because VicForests does not have an unconditional right to defer
settlements of these liabilities.
Depending on the expectation of the timing of settlement, liabilities for annual
leave are measured at:

•

•

nominal value - if VicForests expects to settle wholly within 12 months; or

•

present value - if VicForests does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.

Long service leave (LSL)
A liability for LSL is recognised in the provision for employee benefits.
Unconditional LSL is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements as a current
liability, even where VicForests does not expect to settle the liability within 12
months because it will not have the unconditional right to defer the settlement of
the entitlement should an employee take leave within 12 months.
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The components of this current LSL liability are measured at:
•

nominal value - if VicForests expects to settle wholly within 12 months; or

•

present value - if VicForests does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.

Conditional LSL is disclosed as a non-current liability. There is an unconditional
right to defer the settlement of the entitlement until the employee has completed
the requisite years of service. This non-current LSL liability is measured at present
value.
Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of non-current LSL
liability is recognised in the ‘Profit after income tax’, except to the extent that a
gain or loss arises due to change in bond rates for which it is then recognised in the
net result as an other economic flow. (See Note 8.2).
On-costs such as payroll tax, superannuation and WorkCover insurance levies are
recognised separately from the provision for employee benefit.

Reconciliation of movement in employee benefits on-cost provision

Balance at beginning of year

2018

2017

$’000

$’000

499

517

(156)

(162)

(6)

(33)

190

177

28

(18)

527

499

499

474

28

25

Movements:
Reductions arising from payments/ other
sacrifices of future economic benefits
Reductions resulting from re-measurement
or settlement without cost
Additional provisions recognised
Net movement
Balance at end of year
Represented by
Current employee benefits on-cost
provision
Non-current employee benefits on-cost
provision
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Note 3.3.3 Superannuation contributions

Contributions
paid for the year

Contributions
outstanding
at year end

2018

2017

2018

2017

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

VicSuper

663

654

1

0

Other

387

331

1

0

Sub-total

1,050

985

2

0

Emergency Services
Superannuation
(New Scheme)

116

122

0

0

Emergency Services
Superannuation
(Revised Scheme)

19

28

0

0

135

150

0

0

1,185

1,135

2

0

Fund

Defined contribution plans

Defined benefit plans

Sub-total
Total

Employees (including Directors) of VicForests are entitled to receive superannuation
benefits and VicForests contributes to both defined benefit and defined contribution
plans. The defined benefit plan(s) provides benefits based on years of service and final
average salary.

Note 3.4 Roading expenses
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

Road maintenance

3,575

3,626

Timber haulage toll

3,047

2,831

Total roading expenses

6,622

6,457

The DELWP own the forest road network (FRN) within the Victorian state forests
from which VicForests harvests timber. VicForests roading expenses relate to the
costs VicForests is incurring in order to be able to utilise this network for the haulage
of timber. This is undertaken by means of an agreement with the DELWP whereby
VicForests is able to determine, manage and fund maintenance, and fund occasional
and additional works associated with timber haulage on the FRN(i).
Note (i): Additional works are normally long-term improvements VicForests has made to the
DELWP FRN which are recognised as separate assets owned by VicForests. (See Note 4.4).

Under the agreement all roads within the FRN are agreed by the parties to be part of
the timber haulage network (THN) or not. Those roads comprising the THN are then
categorised into two parts: non-tolled or tolled.
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•

Road maintenance
In respect of the non-tolled roads VicForests is primarily responsible for the
maintenance, occasional and additional works undertaken within the DELWP
timber haulage network (THN), in order to enable haulage of forest products over
the THN. VicForests engages external contractors to undertake these works, with
the maintenance costs being expensed as incurred.
VicForests also expenses the cost of constructing, maintaining and ultimately
rehabilitating temporary access roads specifically constructed for the purpose of
connecting roads on the THN to timber harvesting areas.

•

DELWP Timber haulage toll
Timber haulage tolls are payable to the DELWP on the tolled roads within the THN.
The toll amount is calculated in order to ensure that the DELWP receive sufficient
funds to cover the full and true costs of delivering an agreed maintenance program
in order to enable VicForests haulage of forest products over these tolled roads.

Note 3.5 Other operating expenses
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

Motor vehicle expenses

1,629

1,684

Information and communications technology
(ICT)

1,335

1,309

Facilities

1,180

1,306

Legal

1,026

1,291

937

718

540

280

135

107

326

1,683

7,108

8,378

Notes

Contractors
Audit
Internal and other(i)
Financial
Other operational and administrative expenses
Total other operating expenses

8.5

Note (i): Additional fees were incurred in the 2017-18 financial year in relation to the Forest
Stewardship Council (FSC) Controlled Wood Standard certification and various internal audit
program reviews.

Other operating expenses generally represent day-to-day running costs incurred in
normal operations and are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which
they are incurred.
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Note 3.6 Taxation
VicForests is subject to the National Tax Equivalent Regime (NTER), which is
administered by the ATO. In accordance with this legislation, VicForests is required
to pay to the Victorian Government Consolidated Fund amounts determined to be
equivalent to the amounts that would be payable by VicForests to the Australian
Government if it was subject to the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 (Cth) and Income
Tax Assessment Act 1997 (Cth).
The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable or receivable on
the current period’s taxable income, based on the applicable Australian tax rate of
30% (30 June 2017: 30%), adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities,
attributable to temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the financial statements, and to unused tax losses.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the
tax rates expected to apply when the assets are recovered, or liabilities are settled,
based on those tax rates which are enacted or substantially enacted. The relevant
tax rates are applied to the cumulative amounts of deductible and taxable temporary
differences to measure the deferred tax asset or liability (30 June 2018: 30%, 30 June
2017: 30%).
No deferred tax asset or liability is recognised in relation to these temporary
differences if they arose in a transaction that is not a business combination and that
at the time of the transaction did not affect either accounting profit or taxable profit
or loss. Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and
unused tax losses only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to
utilise those temporary differences and losses.
Current and deferred tax is recognised in the Comprehensive operating statement.

Note 3.6.1 Income tax expense in the comprehensive operating statement
The income tax expense for the financial year differs from the amount calculated on
the net result. The differences are reconciled as follows:
Components of income tax expense
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

Deferred tax relating to temporary differences

526

(1,355)

Income tax (benefit)/expense

526

(1,355)

Notes

Deferred income tax expense included in income
tax expense comprises:
(Increase)/decrease in deferred tax asset

3.6.2

(266)

501

Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liability

3.6.2

792

(1,856)

526

(1,355)
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Reconciliation of prima facie tax payable to income tax expense
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

Net result from operations before income tax
expense

2,613

1,535

Tax at the applicable Australian tax rate of
30% (2017: 30%)

784

460

3

3

787

463

0

450

(70)

(2,060)

(187)

(201)

Tax effect of amounts which are nondeductible for income tax purposes
Income tax expense on operating result
Income tax (benefit)/expense relating to other
economic flows for the year at the applicable
Australian tax rate of 30% (2017: 30%):
··

Tax expense on movement in provision for
doubtful contractual receivables

··

Tax (benefit) upon revaluation of biological
assets

··

Tax (benefit) on write down to net
realisable value of logs in inventory

··

Tax (benefit) upon revaluation of long
service leave

(3)

(4)

··

Tax (benefit) on disposal of non-financial
physical and intangibles assets

(1)

(3)

Total income tax (benefit) on other
economic flows for the year

(261)

(1,818)

Total income tax (benefit)/expense

526

(1,355)

2018

2017

$’000

$’000

956

(141)

Payments made

0

1,097

Refund received

(956)

0

Net movement

0

1,097

Balance at end of year

0

956

Income tax receivable

0

956

Balance at end of year

0

956

Note 3.6.2 Tax assets and liabilities in the balance sheet
Current tax asset/(liability)

Balance at beginning of year

Balance at end of year represents:
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Deferred tax asset
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

0

(1,500)

0

(950)

(678)

(678)

Employee benefits

328

(590)

Accrued audit fees

19

(13)

Other accrued expenses

40

34

1,179

2,025

888

(1,672)

266

(501)

266

(501)

2,294

2,795

Debited to the Comprehensive operating
statement

(87)

(1,109)

Current year tax loss

353

608

Sub-total - movement recognised in
Comprehensive operating statement

266

(501)

0

5

0

(5)

266

(501)

2,560

2,294

1,285

1,186

Tax losses carried forward

961

608

Community forestry grant

293

475

19

23

2

2

2,560

2,294

Notes

Movement in amounts recognised in
Comprehensive operating statement
Doubtful contractual receivables

2.5.1

Legal expenses
Community forestry grant

Current year tax loss
Sub-total
Multiply by 30% tax rate

3.6.1

Total deferred tax asset movement

Movements during the year
Balance at beginning of year

Debited/(credited) to Asset revaluation reserve
Transfer to retained profits tax relating to
derecognition of asset revaluation reserve on
disposal of asset
Net movement
Balance at end of year

6.4.2

The balance comprises temporary differences
attributable to:
Employee benefits

Accrued expenses
Doubtful contractual receivables
Balance at end of year
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Deferred tax liability
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

Balance at beginning of year

(5,352)

(7,208)

Regeneration and amortisation in relation to
Biological assets

(1,068)

1,845

275

11

(793)

1,856

(6,145)

(5,352)

(5,636)

(4,568)

(509)

(784)

(6,145)

(5,352)

Notes

Movements during the year

Other depreciating assets
Net movement
Balance at end of year

3.6.1

The balance comprises temporary differences
attributable to:
Biological assets
Other depreciating assets
Balance at end of year

Net tax assets/(liabilities)
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

0

956

Deferred tax asset

2,560

2,294

Total tax assets

2,560

3,250

Deferred tax liability

(6,145)

(5,352)

Total tax liabilities

(6,145)

(5,352)

Net tax liability

(3,585)

(2,102)

The balance comprises:
Current income tax receivable
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Note 3.7 Payables
2018

2017

Notes

$’000

$’000

7.1

6,925

8,689

7.1, 8.6

2,502

1,718

9,427

10,407

562

452

58

65

620

517

10,047

10,924

10,047

10,924

Contractual
Supplies and services(i)
Victorian Government entities

(i)

Total contractual payables

Statutory
Taxes (FBT, GST and PAYG) payable to the ATO
Payroll tax payable to the SRO
Total statutory payables
Total payables
Represented by
Current payables

Note (i): The average credit period is 30 days. No interest is generally paid on contractual
payables. However, interest may be payable at varying rates per annum if credit terms are
exceeded. No interest is payable on amounts due to Victorian Government entities for purchase
of supplies and services.

Payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to VicForests prior to
reporting date and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured
at amortised cost and are not discounted. The amounts are unsecured and are usually
paid within 30 days of recognition.
Payables consist of contractual payables and statutory payables.
Contractual payables comprise:
•

Trade payables originating from the purchase of goods and services which
were billed and unpaid at reporting date, predominately being amounts due for
harvesting and haulage; and

•

Accrued payables whereby the goods or services have been received as at
reporting date, but not yet billed.

Contractual payables are classified as financial instruments. (See Note 7.1).
Statutory payables comprise Fringe benefits tax (FBT), GST payable and PAYG
withholding tax payable to the ATO and payroll tax payable to the Victorian State
Revenue Office (SRO). Statutory payables are not classified as financial instruments as
they do not arise from a contract.

Maturity analysis of contractual payables
See Note 7.1.3.
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Note 3.8 Other provisions
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

Provision for regeneration

2,863

1,720

Total other provisions

2,863

1,720

2,156

1,148

707

572

Represented by
Current other provisions
Non-current other provisions

Other provisions are recognised when VicForests has a present obligation, the future
sacrifice of economic benefits is probable, and the amount of the provision can be
measured reliably. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at reporting date, taking into
account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.
Provision for regeneration
At the conclusion of harvesting, VicForests is obligated to regenerate the areas
harvested under the requirements of the Sustainable Forests (Timber) Act 2004. In
order to recognise this obligation, a provision is created based on all the current areas
of forest for which regeneration works are still to be completed at reporting date in
accordance with AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.
These areas are multiplied out at the expected cost per hectare of the remaining
works required in order to determine the amount of the provision required. An estimate
for restocking is built into the cost estimates to allow for remedial works where a crop
does not successfully regenerate to the required standard.
Assumptions relating to the amount or timing of any inflow/outflow to the
regeneration provision
The regeneration provision is dependent on a number of assumptions:
•

Seasonal weather conditions are consistent with long-term averages - weather
conditions impact seed collection and the type of regeneration activity following
harvesting;

•

The framework for conducting burning operations does not change significantly;

•

Resource sharing arrangements (people and equipment) with the DELWP continue;
and

•

The need to re-treat regenerated areas in any one year due to seed failure or other
event is consistent with long-term averages of 5-6%.
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If regeneration works do not occur or are carried over from one financial year to the
next, then the outflow to the regeneration provision will be smaller. (Refer tables
below).
Due to the timing of the regeneration cycle not all remaining works can be undertaken
within 12 months, so the provision is divided between current and non-current. (Refer
tables below).
Reconciliation of movements in carrying amounts of other provisions

Regeneration
2018

$’000

Balance at beginning of year

1,720

Movements:
Reductions arising from payments/ other sacrifices of future
economic benefits

(1,466)

Reductions resulting from re-measurement or settlement
without cost

(729)

Additional provisions recognised

3,338

Net movement

1,143

Balance at end of year

2,863

Legal

Regeneration

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

950

2,439

3,389

Reductions arising from payments/ other
sacrifices of future economic benefits

(950)

(1,997)

(2,947)

Reductions resulting from remeasurement or settlement without cost

(0)

(1,432)

(1,432)

0

2,710

2,710

(950)

(719)

(1,669)

0

1,720

1,720

2017

Balance at beginning of year
Movements:

Additional provisions recognised
Net movement
Balance at end of year
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Note 3.9 Inventories
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

4,771

5,199

Regeneration materials - at cost

160

98

Roading materials - at cost

146

144

Logs in log storage facilities - at cost

1,352

0

Logs in log storage facilities - at net realisable
value

3,845

3,872

10,274

9,313

10,274

9,313

Supplies and consumables
Seed - at cost

Inventories held for sale

Total inventories
Represented by
Current inventories

Supplies and consumables held for future use
•

Seed
VicForests holds seed in order to regenerate harvested areas subsequent to harvest.
The seed inventory is valued at cost only which is assigned to seed stock quantities
on hand at reporting date on a weighted average cost basis. The cost calculation
is based on direct labour and materials used in the seed collection and extraction
processes.

•

Regeneration materials
Regeneration materials in inventory comprise materials that have been purchased
and stockpiled for use in the replanting of previously harvested areas. These
materials have been valued on a weighted average cost basis.

•

Roading materials
Roading materials in inventory comprise crushed gravel and culvert pipes that have
been purchased and stockpiled for use in the construction and maintenance of
forest roads, in order to facilitate the harvest and haulage of standing timber. These
materials have been valued on a weighted average cost basis.

•

Log stocks in transit yards
Inventories held for sale comprise log stocks stored in transit yards, harvested for
future sale. These logs are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value (NRV)
in accordance with well-established industry practice as allowed for by AASB 102
Inventories. Cost comprises the harvesting and haulage costs incurred to date plus
an allocation of management overheads incurred in getting the logs to the transit
yards. The NRV is based on the sales price for the particular destination for the
product, less the remaining haulage expense.
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Note 4

Key assets available to support
output delivery
Introduction
VicForests controls roads and bridges and other assets that are utilised in fulfilling its
objectives and conducting its activities. They represent the key resources that have
been entrusted to VicForests to be utilised for delivery of those outputs.
Fair value measurement
Where the assets included in this section are carried at fair value, additional
information is disclosed in Note 7.3 in connection with how those fair values were
determined.
Structure
This section includes:
•

Note 4.1

Depreciation and amortisation

•

Note 4.2

Impairment

•

Note 4.3

Biological assets

•

Note 4.4

Property, plant and equipment

Note 4.1

Depreciation and amortisation
2018

2017

Notes

$’000

$’000

Roads and bridges

4.4

1,385

629

Leasehold improvements

4.4

209

178

Plant and equipment

4.4

158

93

Motor vehicle

4.4

0

3

1,752

903

2,186

4,185

69

54

Total amortisation expense

2,255

4,239

Total depreciation and amortisation expense

4,007

5,142

Depreciation

Total depreciation expense

Amortisation
Biological assets
Intangible assets

4.3
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Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the asset’s cost
or revalued amounts, net of their residual values, over their estimated useful lives (or in
the case of leasehold improvements, the lease term if shorter), commencing from the
time the asset is held ready for use, that is, when it is in the location and in a suitable
condition for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
Where assets have separately identifiable components, those components are
assigned useful lives distinct from the item of plant and equipment to which they relate
and depreciated accordingly.
The following useful lives for the current asset classes are used in the calculation of
depreciation, and are consistent with the prior year unless otherwise noted:

Asset Class

Useful Life

Roads and permanent bridges(i)

2-15 years

Plant and equipment
··

Computers and communication
equipment

··

Fixtures and fittings, office equipment

··

Plant and equipment

··

Portable bailey bridges

Leasehold improvements

3 years
10 years
4 years
20 years
Term of lease: 5-10 years

Note (i): The useful lives of roads and permanent bridges were reviewed in 2017-18.
The useful lives in 2017-18 were 2-15 years (2016-17: 5-10 years).

Change in accounting estimates
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at
the end of each annual reporting period, and where revised, are accounted for as a
change in accounting estimate. Where depreciation rates or methods are changed,
the net written down value of the asset is depreciated from the date of the change in
accordance with the new depreciation rate or method.
Amortisation
•

Biological timber assets
As standing timber is harvested, the biological timber asset is amortised at a rate
per cubic metre of wood sold. The dollar rate per cubic metre is set so that the
value of the estimated volume of standing timber available for harvest within
twelve months of reporting date, is amortised in the forthcoming reporting period.

•

Intangible assets
All intangible assets that have finite useful lives are amortised using the straightline method to allocate their cost or revalued amounts, net of their residual values,
over their estimated useful lives, commencing from the time the asset is held ready
for use.
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Note 4.2 Impairment
As per AASB 136 Impairment of Assets, VicForests assesses impairment of property,
plant and equipment and intangibles at each reporting date by evaluating conditions
specific to VicForests and to the particular asset that may lead to impairment. These
include judgements in relation to obsolescence or physical damage, technology,
economic and political environments and future income expectations. If an
impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined.
At 30 June 2018 no impairment was identified for property, plant and equipment or
intangibles (2017: $Nil).

Note 4.3 Biological assets

Estimated volume of standing timber available
for harvest within twelve months

2018

2017

’000 m3

’000 m3

1,111

1,116

Reconciliation of movements in carrying amounts of biological assets

Notes

Carrying amount at beginning of period

2018

2017

$’000

$’000

39,065

46,210

1,839

1,906

1,791

800

1,381

1,132

703

787

5,714

4,625

Increase due to capitalisation of regeneration
expenditure
··

External contractors

··

DELWP

··

Internal expenditure

··

Cost of seed consumed

8.6

Sub-total
Decrease due to harvest amortisation

4.1

(2,186)

(4,185)

Decrease due to fair value adjustment

8.2

(234)

(6,866)

Increase/(decrease) due to change in
provision for regeneration

3.8

1,143

(719)

4,437

(7,145)

Carrying amount at end of period

43,502

39,065

Biological assets measured at fair value

40,639

37,345

2,863

1,720

43,502

39,065

4,310

3,090

39,192

35,975

Net movement

Provision for regeneration measured at
estimated cost
Total biological assets

3.8

Represented by
Current biological assets
Non-current biological assets
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Productive trees in Victorian Government commercial native forests, vested to
VicForests through an Allocation Order pursuant to the Sustainable Forests (Timber) Act
2004, are recognised as biological assets. These assets comprise the estimated standing
timber available for harvest in the next eighty years, current (year 1) and non-current
(subsequent years), stated in line with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement at fair value, less
costs necessary to get the assets to the market.
The biological assets are revalued at 30 June each year and are measured at fair value
less costs to sell. (See Note 7.3.1).
Make-good
At the conclusion of harvesting, VicForests is obligated, under the Sustainable
Forests (Timber) Act 2004 to regenerate the areas harvested. In order to recognise
this obligation, VicForests sets aside a liability provision for the expected costs of
regeneration in accordance with AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets. (See Note 3.8). The corresponding entry to the regeneration provision
liability is a make-good asset which forms part of the biological assets’ cost base.
All regeneration expenses subsequently incurred in the following year’s regeneration
program (including the costs of those employees directly involved) are then added
to the capitalised regeneration asset which is also part of the biological assets.
That portion of the regeneration provision liability and equivalent make-good asset
previously set aside for those areas is then reversed.

Note 4.4 Property, plant and equipment
Gross carrying
amount

Accumulated
depreciation

Net carrying
amount

2018

2017

2018

2017

2018

2017

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Roads and bridges at fair
value

6,393

6,398

(2,014)

(629)

4,379

5,769

Leasehold improvements at
cost

1,315

1,302

(718)

(508)

597

794

Plant and equipment at cost

2,125

1,913

(1,509)

(1,462)

616

451

Assets under construction at
cost

370

3

0

0

370

3

10,203

9,616

(4,241) (2,599)

5,962

7,017

Total property, plant and
equipment

Property, plant and equipment represent non-current physical assets comprising roads
and bridges, plant and equipment, leasehold improvements, motor vehicles and assets
under construction, used by VicForests in its operations. More specifically:
•

Roads and permanent bridges primarily comprise long-term improvements that
VicForests has made to the DELWP timber haulage network (THN) in order to
allow improved economics of timber haulage. Also included are access roads that
VicForests has constructed from the THN to timber harvesting areas, to a nontemporary standard as VicForests intends to utilise these roads for terms exceeding
12 months.

•

Plant and equipment comprises communications equipment, computers, furniture,
office equipment, scientific equipment and other tools, and portable bailey bridges.

•

Leasehold improvements comprises office alterations and fittings in offices leased
from both the DELWP and non-Victorian Government entities and fittings in a seed
processing and storage facility leased from the DELWP.
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Recognition and measurement of property, plant and equipment
Items with a cost or value in excess of $1,000 (2016-17: $1,000) (capitalisation
threshold) and a useful life of more than 1 year are recognised as assets. All items
with a cost or value less than $1,000 are expensed as acquired. Cost includes all
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a
separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to VicForests and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other subsequent costs are expensed as incurred.
Routine maintenance, repair costs and minor renewal costs are expensed as incurred.
Where the repair relates to the replacement of a component of an asset, the repair
will provide future economic benefit, the cost can be measured reliably, and the cost
exceeds the capitalisation threshold, the cost is capitalised and depreciated over the
remaining life of the asset.
Reconciliation of movements in carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment
Roads and
bridges at fair
value
$’000

Leasehold
improvements
at cost

Plant and
Assets under
equipment at construction at
cost
cost

Motor vehicle
Total net
at fair value carrying amount

2018

2017

2018

2017

2018

2017

2018

2017

2018

2017

2018

2017

5,769

5,156

794

524

451

270

3

3

0

18

7,017

5,971

Additions(i)

(5)

1,242

13

450

325

282

367

0

0

0

700

1,974

Disposals

(0)

(0)

(0)

(2)

(2)

(8)

(0)

(0)

(0)

(15)

(2)

(25)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Depreciation (1,385)

(629)

(210)

(178)

(158)

(93)

(0)

(0)

(0)

(3) (1,753)

(903)

Closing
balance

5,769

597

794

616

451

370

3

0

Opening
balance

Revaluation

4,379

Note (i): A downward cost adjustment was made to the roads and bridges in the financial year
ending 30 June 2018 which related to the prior financial year.

0

5,962

7,017
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Note 5

Other assets and liabilities
Introduction
This section details other assets and liabilities that arose from VicForests’ operations.
Structure
This section includes:
•

Note 5.1

Dividend payable

•

Note 5.2

Other liabilities

Note 5.1 Dividend payable
VicForests pays dividends in accordance with a determination of the Treasurer of
Victoria under the State Owned Enterprises Act 1992. The obligation to pay a dividend
arises after consultation between the VicForests’ Board of Directors, the Minister of
Agriculture and the Treasurer. Following this consultation process, the Treasurer makes
a formal determination. Dividends declared on or before reporting date but unpaid as
at reporting date are recognised as a liability.
At 30 June 2018, the Treasurer, in consultation with the Minister for Agriculture, has
made no determination in relation to a dividend payable for the 2017-18 financial year.

Note 5.2 Other liabilities
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

982

1,616

168

160

23

10

1,173

1,786

Current other liabilities

876

882

Non-current other liabilities

297

904

Notes

Deferred Victorian Government grants
Haulage deductions
Unearned income
Total other liabilities

2.3

Represented by

VicForests has recognised a deferred liability for that portion of a Victorian
Government Community forestry grant, that relates to future years. (See Note 2.3).
A deferred liability has also been recognised in respect of other haulage deductions.
These deductions are later released to other operating income once an equivalent
amount of expenditure is incurred in respect of haulage safety initiatives.
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Note 6

Financing our operations
Introduction
This section provides information on the sources of finance utilised by VicForests
for its operations, along with interest expenses (the cost of borrowings) and other
information related to financing the activities of VicForests.
This section includes disclosures of balances that are financial instruments (such
as borrowings and cash balances). Note 7.1 provides additional, specific financial
instrument disclosures.

Structure
This section includes:
•

Note 6.1

Borrowings

•

Note 6.1.1

Borrowing expenses

•

Note 6.2

Cash flow information and cash balances

•

Note 6.3

Commitments for expenditure

•

Note 6.4

Equity

•

Note 6.4.1

Contributions by owners

•

Note 6.4.2

Physical asset revaluation reserve

Note 6.1 Borrowings
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

Loan from the TCV(i)

0

2,143

Total current borrowings

0

2,143

Current

Note (i): An unsecured fixed-term, fixed-rate loan with a weighted average interest rate of 3.52%
(30 June 2017: 3.52%).

Borrowings refer to interest bearing liabilities raised through the Treasury Corporation
of Victoria (TCV). Borrowings are classified as financial instruments and are initially
recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Outstanding borrowings are
recorded at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The loan from the TCV
was repaid on 15 September 2017.
Maturity analysis of borrowings
See Note 7.1.3.

Defaults and breaches
During the current and prior year, there were no defaults and breaches of any of the
borrowings.
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Note 6.1.1 Borrowing expenses

Interest on borrowings from the TCV
Financial accommodation levy
Total borrowing expenses

2018

2017

$’000

$’000

27

114

0

32

27

146

Borrowing expenses are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing expenses comprise:
•

interest on borrowing facilities provided by the TCV in line with the Victorian
Government Centralised Treasury and Investment Policy which requires borrowings
to be transacted through the TCV; and

•

a financial accommodation levy (FAL) was charged by the DTF in the 2016-17
financial year in order to recognise the differential in borrowing costs between a
stand-alone credit rating for VicForests and the State of Victoria’s AAA credit rating
(as rated by the Standard and Poor’s Corporation) and Aaa credit rating (as rated by
Moody’s Investor Services). No FAL was charged by the DTF in the 2017-18 financial
year as the loan balance was repaid on 15 September 2017.

Note 6.2 Cash flow information and cash balances

Cash at bank(i)
Deposits at the TCV
Total cash and deposits

2018

2017

$’000

$’000

968

102

0

2,038

968

2,140

Note (i): In line with the Victorian Government Centralised Treasury and Investment Policy,
VicForests endeavours to minimise the cash balance held in its bank account. Excess cash is
deposited with the TCV.

Cash and deposits comprise cash held at an Australian bank, deposits at call and shortterm fixed deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. The deposits
at call and the short-term fixed deposits which are held with the TCV, are held for
the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for investment
purposes. The carrying values of cash and deposits are equal to the fair value due to
the short-term maturities of these instruments.
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Reconciliation of net result for the year after income tax to net cash flows from
operating activities
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

1,218

(3,170)

4,007

5,142

0

(1,500)

234

6,866

Write-down to NRV of log inventory in log
storage facilities

623

668

Loss on revaluation of long service leave
provision

10

14

2

12

2,754

(764)

690

(455)

(21)

42

(1,585)

602

(1,143)

719

(1,500)

231

1,143

(719)

335

(1,558)

792

(1,997)

(626)

(677)

6,933

3,456

Notes

Net result for the year after income tax
Non-cash movements:
Depreciation and amortisation

4.1

Provision for doubtful contractual receivables

2.5.1

Loss on revaluation of biological assets

4.3

Loss on disposal of non-financial assets
(Increase)/decrease in assets:
Receivables
Tax assets

3.6.2

Other non-financial assets
Inventories
Biological assets - regeneration make-good
asset

3.8, 4.3

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:
Payables
Provisions - regeneration

3.8

Provisions - other
Tax liabilities

3.6.2

Other liabilities

5.2

Net cash flows from operating activities

Financing facilities
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

0

0

Amount unused

10,800

11,369

Total

10,800

11,369

Amount used

0

2,143

Amount unused

0

0

Total

0

2,143

Unsecured loan facility with the TCV,
reviewed annually and payable at call
Amount used

Unsecured loan facility with various maturity
dates through to 2017-18 with the TCV
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Note 6.3 Commitments for expenditure
Commitments for expenditure
Nominal value
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

117,254

140,301

5,261

6,974

1,904

358

124,419

147,633

Motor vehicles

1,875

939

Office accommodation and parking

1,042

1,354

16

26

2,933

2,319

97

310

157

221

0

8

11

174

1

70

266

783

127,618

150,735

Notes

Production expense commitments
Harvest and haulage services
Third party log purchases
Other production expenses
Total production expense commitments

(i)

Operating lease commitments for
expenditure

Plant and equipment
Total operating lease commitments for
expenditure
Other commitments for expenditure
Other
Information technology
··

With related party

··

Other

Research and development
Community sponsorship
Total other commitments for expenditure
Total commitments for expenditure

8.6

Note (i): At reporting date VicForests had 50 contracts in place with 41 external parties (2017:
62 contracts with 45 external parties) for the provision of future harvest, haulage, and log
storage management services and for the purchase of logs from a third party. Under these
contracts VicForests is committed to purchasing minimum quantities of the applicable service
in each financial year in order to meet future sales commitments, but not longer than 5 years.
If the opportunity for the minimum quantity is not provided VicForests may need to make
compensation payments. The commitment amounts noted above are based on the minimum
quantities specified in the contracts.

Future commitments include operating and capital commitments arising from noncancellable contracts. These commitments are disclosed at their nominal value and
are inclusive of GST payable. These future commitments cease to be disclosed as
commitments once the related liabilities are recognised in the Balance sheet.
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Commitments payable
Nominal value
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

Less than 1 year

62,315

71,899

Longer than 1 year but not longer than 5 years

62,104

75,734

124,419

147,633

Less than 1 year

1,133

1,072

Longer than 1 year but not longer than 5 years

1,800

1,247

Total operating lease commitments payable

2,933

2,319

266

742

0

41

266

783

127,618

150,735

(11,601)

(13,687)

116,017

137,048

Production expense commitments payable

Total production expense commitments payable
Operating lease commitments payable

Other commitments payable
Less than 1 year
Longer than 1 year but not longer than 5 years
Total other commitments payable
Total commitments payable
(inclusive of GST)
Less GST recoverable from the Australian Tax Office
Total commitments payable
(exclusive of GST)

Note 6.4 Equity
Note 6.4.1 Contributions by owners

Contributed capital

2018

2017

$’000

$’000

45,000

45,000

Contributed capital represents the Victorian Government’s investment in VicForests.
Consistent with applicable AAS’s and the Financial Management Act 1994, transfers and
appropriation for additions of net assets between VicForests and the State designated
as contributed capital, are recognised as capital transactions.
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Note 6.4.2 Physical asset revaluation reserve
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

2,645

2,645

Revaluation increment

0

0

Decrement in deferred tax on asset revaluation

0

0

2,645

2,645

Balance at beginning of year

0

13

Decrement in reserve transferred to retained
profits on disposal of asset

0

(18)

Increment in deferred tax transferred to
retained profits on disposal of asset

0

5

Balance at end of year

0

0

2,645

2,645

Roads and bridges
Balance at beginning of year

Balance at end of year

Motor vehicles

Total physical asset revaluation reserve

Revaluations
Revaluation increments or decrements arise from differences between an asset’s
carrying value and fair value. Revaluation increments are credited directly to equity in
the physical asset revaluation reserve, net of applicable tax, except that, to the extent
that an increment reverses a revaluation decrement in respect of the same asset
previously recognised as an expense in determining the net result, the increment is
recognised as an other economic flow in determining the net result.
Revaluation decrements are recognised immediately as an other economic flow in
the net result, except that, to the extent that a credit balance exists in the physical
asset revaluation reserve in respect of the same class of asset, they are debited to the
physical asset revaluation reserve, net of applicable tax.
VicForests’ non-financial physical assets are valued at fair value with any revaluation
increments or decrements to the values of the assets recognised in the physical asset
revaluation reserve, net of applicable income tax. (See Note 7.3.2).
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Note 7

Risk, contingencies and
valuation judgements
Introduction
VicForests is exposed to risk from its activities and outside factors. In addition, it is
often necessary to make judgements and estimates associated with recognition and
measurement of items in the financial statements. This section sets out financial
instrument specific information, including exposures to financial risk, as well as those
items which are contingent in nature or require a higher level of judgement to be
applied, which for VicForests relate mainly to fair value determination.
Structure
This section includes:
•

Note 7.1

Financial instruments specific disclosures

•

Note 7.1.1

Financial risk management objectives and policies

•

Note 7.1.2

Credit risk

•

Note 7.1.3

Liquidity risk

•

Note 7.1.4

Market risk

•

Note 7.2

Contingent assets, contingent liabilities and guarantees

•

Note 7.3

Fair value determination

•

Note 7.3.1

Fair value determination of biological assets

•

Note 7.3.2

Fair value determination of property, plant and equipment

Note 7.1 Financial instruments specific disclosures
Financial instruments arise out of contractual agreements that give rise to a financial
asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. Due
to the nature of VicForests activities, certain financial assets and liabilities arise under
statute rather than a contract. Such financial assets and liabilities do not meet the
definition of financial instruments per AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation.
For example, statutory receivables and payables arising from taxes do not meet the
definition of financial instruments as they do not arise under contract.
VicForests currently holds a range of financial instruments that are recorded in the
financial statements where the carrying amounts equal their respective fair values.
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the
criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement, and the basis on which income and
expenses are recognised, with respect to each class of financial asset and financial
liability are disclosed in the notes relevant to the financial instrument, and having
regard to likely future cash flows.
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VicForests’ principal financial instruments comprise:
•

cash and deposits (See Note 6.2);

•

receivables (excluding statutory receivables) (See Note 2.5);

•

payables (excluding statutory payables) (See Note 3.7); and

•

borrowings (See Note 6.1).

The carrying amounts of VicForests’ contractual financial assets and financial liabilities
are at amortised cost.
Impairment of financial assets
Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Individual debts
that are known to be uncollectible are written off when identified. An impairment
provision is recognised when there is objective evidence that VicForests may not be
able to collect the receivable. VicForests has regard to the following observable data in
determining whether there is objective evidence of impairment:
•

a breach of contract in respect of payments, such as a default or delinquency in
payments;

•

whether such a breach is part of a seasonal pattern, having regard to the past
payment history of the debtor;

•

whether the debtor is in significant financial difficulty which may lead to financial
reorganisation or bankruptcy;

•

whether VicForests is able to recover timber from the debtor, in line with retention
of title clauses in the timber sales agreements and its rights under the Personal
Property Securities Act 2009 (Cth); and

•

whether the debtor is in breach of contract by withholding payments due to
a counter-claim in relation to alleged non-performance under a timber sales
agreement.

Note 7.1.1 Financial risk management objectives and policies
The main purpose in holding financial instruments is to prudentially manage VicForests’
financial risks within the Victorian Government policy parameters. VicForests’ main
financial risk is credit risk.
VicForests manages its financial risks in accordance with its risk management
framework. The Board of Directors of VicForests has overall responsibility for the
establishment and oversight of the risk management framework. The risk management
framework seeks to minimise the potential adverse effects from risk on VicForests’
financial performance.
Under the framework VicForests’ management is responsible for identifying risks
and recording them in VicForests’ Risk Register. The Audit and Risk Committee (a
sub-committee of the Board) is responsible for grouping the risks and developing
and monitoring risk management instructions for each risk grouping. Instructions
developed to identify, analyse and manage financial risk include a Customer Credit
Instruction and a Treasury Management Instruction. These financial risk instructions
set appropriate risk limits and controls, and the mechanism for monitoring adherence
to the limits and controls. The Audit and Risk Committee oversees how senior
management monitors compliance with VicForests’ risk management instructions and
is assisted in this task by internal audit.
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Note 7.1.2 Credit risk
Credit risk arises from the contractual financial assets of VicForests, which comprise
cash and deposits and non-statutory receivables. VicForests’ exposure to credit risk
arises from the potential default of a counterparty on their contractual obligations
resulting in a financial loss to VicForests. Credit risk is measured at fair value and is
monitored on a regular basis. VicForests does not engage in hedging for its contractual
financial assets.
The major exposure to credit risk arises from receivables which primarily consist of a
number of business and individual customers to which VicForests sells timber. Each
customer is subject to a credit assessment process before entering into sales contracts.
VicForests also registers a security interest under the Personal Property Securities Act
2009 (Cth) against various customers in order to protect its collateral (timber) until
the full purchase price is paid. All receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing
basis to ensure that exposure to bad debts is minimised. The collection of payments
and overdue receivables is managed within VicForests. Provision for impairment
of contractual financial assets is recognised when there is objective evidence that
VicForests will not be able to collect a receivable.
Except as otherwise detailed in the following table, the carrying amount of contractual
financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowances for losses,
represents VicForests’ maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the
value of any collateral obtained.

Credit quality of contractual financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

Financial
institutions
(triple-A
credit rating)

Victorian
Government
agencies
(triple-A
credit rating)

Other
(un-rated)

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

968

0

0

968

0

8,468

10,786

19,254

968

8,468

10,786

20,222

102

2,038

0

2,140

0

5,496

13,554

19,050

102

7,534

13,554

21,190

2018
Cash and deposits
Contractual receivables
Total contractual financial
assets

2017
Cash and deposits
Contractual receivables
Total contractual financial
assets
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Ageing analysis of contractual receivables
Not past
due
Carrying and not
amount impaired

Past due and not impaired

<1
month

1-3
months

3 mths
- 1 year

>1
year(i)

Subtotal

Impaired /
doubtful

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Sale of goods and
services

24,505

19,242

666

0

4,549

42

5,257

6

Other receivables

12

12

0

0

0

0

0

0

24,517

19,254

666

0

4,549

42

5,257

6

(6)

0

0

0

0

0

0

(6)

24,511

19,254

666

0

4,549

42

5,257

0

Sale of goods and
services

27,335

19,027

2,622

4,275

1,331

74

8,302

6

Other receivables

23

23

0

0

0

0

0

0

27,358

19,050

2,622

4,275

1,331

74

8,302

6

(6)

0

0

0

0

0

0

(6)

27,352

19,050

2,622

4,275

1,331

74

8,302

0

2018

Subtotal
Less provision
for doubtful
contractual
receivables
Total

2017

Subtotal
Provision
for doubtful
contractual
receivables
Total

Note (i): Past due > 1 year represents an amount owing by an entity that has gone into
administration. VicForests holds collateral to the value of the debt and has therefore not
recognised a provision for doubtful contractual receivable against the debt owing.

Note 7.1.3 Liquidity risk
VicForests operates under the Victorian Government fair payments policy of settling
financial obligations within 30 days. Liquidity risk is the risk that VicForests would
be unable to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due. VicForests’
maximum exposure to liquidity risk is the carrying amounts of financial liabilities as
disclosed in the face of the Balance sheet. VicForests manages its liquidity risk by
maintaining and conducting efficient banking practices and account structures, sound
cash management practices and regular monitoring of the maturity profile of assets
and liabilities, together with anticipated cash flows.
VicForests, with the exception of a working capital account held with an Australian
bank, is required to invest and borrow exclusively with the TCV, as per the Victorian
Government Centralised Treasury and Investment Policy. The amounts of financial
accommodation that VicForests is able to obtain from the TCV is approved by the
Treasurer of Victoria on an annual basis pursuant to the Borrowing and Investment
Powers Act 1987. VicForests is unable to exceed the approval limits set by the Treasurer
of Victoria.
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Maturity analysis of contractual financial liabilities
Carrying
amount

Nominal
amount

<1
month

1-3
months

3 months
- 1 year

1-5 years

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Supplies and
services

6,925

6,925

6,925

0

0

0

Victorian
Government
entities

2,502

2,502

2,502

0

0

0

Total

9,427

9,427

9,427

0

0

0

Supplies and
services

8,689

8,689

8,689

0

0

0

Victorian
Government
entities

1,718

1,718

1,718

0

0

0

2,143

2,143

176

353

1,614

0

12,550

12,550

10,583

353

1,614

0

2018
Contractual
payables

2017
Contractual
payables

Borrowings
Loan from the TCV
Total

Note 7.1.4 Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices will affect the fair value or future
cash flows of financial instruments. Market risk comprises foreign exchange risk, and
interest rate risk. VicForests’ exposure to market risk is primarily through interest rate
risk; there is no material exposure to foreign exchange risk, and no material exposure
to other price risks. Objectives, policies and processes used to minimise these risks are
disclosed below:
Interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. VicForests has
minimal exposure to cash flow interest rate risks through cash at bank, on-call deposits
and certain contractual receivables that are at floating rate. VicForests management
has concluded that cash at bank and the on-call deposits can be left at floating rate
without necessarily exposing VicForests to significant interest rate risk.
The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities that are exposed to
interest rates and VicForests sensitivity to interest rate risk are set out in the tables
below.
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Interest rate exposure

Fixed

Variable

amount

interest
rate

Interest
rate

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

1.72%

968

0

968

0

10.00%

24,584

663

0

23,921

12

0

0

12

25,564

663

968

23,933

Supplies and services

6,925

0

0

6,925

Victorian Government
entities

2,502

0

0

2,502

Total financial liabilities

9,427

0

0

9,427

1.45%

2,140

0

2,140

0

6.67%

27,335

7,825

399

19,111

4

0

0

4

19

0

0

19

29,498

7,825

2,539

19,134

Supplies and services

8,689

0

0

8,689

Victorian Government
entities

1,718

0

0

1,718

2,143

2,143

0

0

12,550

2,143

0

10,407

Weighted average
interest rate (%)
on interest-bearing
portion

Carrying

Noninterest
bearing

2018
Financial assets
Cash and deposits
Contractual receivables
Sale of goods and
services
Other receivables
Total financial assets

Financial liabilities
Contractual payables

2017
Financial assets
Cash and deposits
Contractual receivables
Sale of goods and
services
Accrued interest income
Other receivables
Total financial assets

Financial liabilities
Contractual payables

Borrowings
Loan from the TCV
Total financial liabilities

3.52%
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Interest rate risk sensitivity
Interest rate risk sensitivity
Carrying

-100 basis points

+100 basis points

amount

Net result

Net result

$’000

$’000

$’000

As at 30 June 2018

968

(10)

10

As at 30 June 2017

2,140

(21)

21

The above table summarises the sensitivity of VicForests’ financial assets and financial
liabilities to interest rate risk. It illustrates the impact on the net result of VicForests. A
100 basis points (1%) movement up (and down) in market interest rates (AUD) on cash
and deposits has been used to show sensitivities to interest rates at both the reporting
date of 30 June 2018 and the comparative year of 30 June 2017.
Whilst the above sensitivity analysis was based on the reporting date balances, it needs
to be acknowledged that the deposit balances with the bank and the TCV fluctuate
within any month. The actual risk exposure could vary and might not exist for a whole
month or year. The above analysis therefore is considered to be realistic and confirms
that the market risk exposure is not material.

Note 7.2 Contingent assets, contingent liabilities and guarantees
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance sheet,
but are disclosed by way of a note and, if quantifiable, are measured at nominal value.
Contingent assets and liabilities are presented exclusive of GST receivable or payable
respectively.
Contingent assets
During the year ending 30 June 2015, the Supreme Court ordered that MyEnvironment
pay VicForests the sum of $1,235,500 for legal costs following its unsuccessful
litigation. A balance of $1,205,500 remains unpaid as at 30 June 2018 and further legal
action is likely to be required to recover this amount (2017: $1,205,500).
Contingent liabilities and guarantees
During the year ending 30 June 2018 VicForests was a defendant in three proceedings
before the Courts. Two of these proceedings remain current at the time of signing
these accounts. The estimated future legal cost associated with these proceedings as
at 30 June 2018 was $2,000,000 (2017: $Nil).
During the year ending 30 June 2017 VicForests established a bank guarantee facility
in favour of a third party for $56,430. A further bank guarantee facility in favour of
a Victorian Government entity for $10,000 was established during the year ended
30 June 2018. VicForests has a potential obligation to pay the bank in the event the
guarantees are called upon by the favourees. The existence of an obligation will be
confirmed only by the occurrence of one or more uncertain future events. The bank
guarantee amounts remaining as at 30 June 2018 were $66,430 (2017: $56,430).
See Note 8.6 for further details in relation to the bank guarantee facility in favour of a
Victorian Government entity.
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Note 7.3 Fair value determination
Fair value determination requires judgement and the use of assumptions. This section
discloses the most significant assumptions used in determining fair values. Changes
to assumptions could have a material impact on the results and financial position of
VicForests.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date.
Consistent with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement, VicForests determines the policies
and procedures for fair value measurement for financial reporting purposes for the
following assets and liabilities:
•

financial instruments;

•

biological assets; and

•

property, plant and equipment.

In addition, the fair values of other assets and liabilities that are carried at amortised
cost, also need to be determined for disclosure purposes.
Fair value hierarchy
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial
statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole.
The levels are described below:
•

Level 1 - quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities;

•

Level 2 - valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable; and

•

Level 3 - valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is unobservable.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, VicForests has determined classes of assets
and liabilities, on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the assets or
liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.
In addition, VicForests determines whether transfers have occurred between levels
in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.
Note 7.3.1 Fair value determination of biological assets
AASB 141 Agriculture determines fair value as the amount which could be expected to
be received from the disposal of the asset in an active and liquid market less the costs
expected to be incurred in realising the proceeds of such a disposal.
The fair value of a biological asset is based on its present location and condition. If
an active market exists for a biological asset in its present location and condition, the
quoted price in that market is the appropriate basis for determining the fair value of
that asset. Where access exists to different markets then the most relevant market is
referenced.
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In the event that market determined prices or values are not available for a biological
asset in its present condition, the present value of the expected net cash flows from
the asset, discounted at a current market determined rate is utilised to determine fair
value. The expected net cash flows take into account the expected yield of the forest
at harvest, expected sale prices, and expected harvesting and haulage expenses to
market and incorporate possible variations in the net cash flows. (Compliant with AASB
141 Agriculture regeneration expenses are excluded).
The valuation model used to determine the fair value of the Biological assets requires a
number of core assumptions including but not limited to:
•

sovereign risk in relation to the tenure of the allocation order, changes in
legislation, the introduction of further regulations, and re-interpretation of existing
regulations;

•

resource projection including forest type, forest growth and yield;

•

effect of bushfires;

•

cash flow projections, and in particular:
•

the use of mid-point discounting as cash flows are earned relatively evenly
throughout the year; and

•

the incorporation of contributory asset charges to recognise the contribution
to cash flows generated by other assets within VicForests such as plant and
equipment and working capital;

•

the determination of a current market determined discount rate to be applied to
the estimated cash flow of the estimated standing timber as at reporting date. The
discount rate used is calculated independently by the Department of Treasury and
Finance. It is based on a real, post-tax weighted average cost of capital calculation
(WACC) and reflects VicForests’ average cost of funds and the current risk profile of
the organisation. A real, post-tax discount rate of 5.01% was used for the financial
year ending 30 June 2018 (4.99% for 2017); and

•

components of make good provision including regeneration treatment type,
anticipated costs of each type, and the probabilities of successful regeneration of
each treatment method.

Given there is no active and liquid market for large areas of native forest, the standing
timber was valued using a discounted cash flow method. The net increment/
(decrement) in the fair value of these biological assets is recognised in the
Comprehensive operating statement as an other economic flow. After harvest, logs are
treated as inventories if stored in transit yards prior to sale.
Fair value measurement hierarchy of biological assets
Fair value measurement at end of
reporting period using:

Carrying
amount

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

As at 30 June 2018

40,639

0

0

40,639

As at 30 June 2017

37,345

0

0

37,345

There have been no transfers between levels for the biological assets during the period.
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Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value movements of biological assets
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

37,345

43,771

4.3

5,714

4,625

4.3

(2,186)

(4,185)

4.3

(234)

(6,866)

40,639

37,345

Notes

Balance at beginning of year
Purchases
Capitalisation of regeneration expenditure
Gains or losses recognised in net result
Amortisation
Gains or losses recognised in other economic flows
Revaluation(i)
Balance at end of year

Note (i): A reconciliation from the opening balance to the closing balance of the revaluation
amount attributable to the change in unrealised gains and losses and the line item(s) in profit
or loss in which those unrealised gains or losses are recognised cannot be quantified and have
therefore not been disclosed.

Description of significant unobservable inputs to Level 3 valuations of biological assets

Significant
unobservable inputs

Range
(weighted
average)

(i)

Expected future
sales values

+/- 5%

5% change would increase/
(decrease) the fair value by
$68,645

(ii) Expected future
harvest and haulage
costs

+/- 5%

5% change would increase/
(decrease) the fair value by
$50,681

(iii) Discount rate (real,
post-tax)

6.01%

1% increase would decrease fair
value by $6,666

4.01%

1% decrease would increase fair
value by $9,312

Expected future
sales values

+/- 5%

5% change would increase/
(decrease) the fair value by
$68,477

(ii) Expected future
harvest and haulage
costs

+/- 5%

5% change would increase/
(decrease) the fair value by
$50,321

(iii) Discount rate (real,
post-tax)

5.99%

1% increase would decrease fair
value by $6,006

3.99%

1% decrease would increase fair
value by $8,397

Sensitivity ($’000)

2018
Biological
assets

2017
Biological
assets

(i)
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Note 7.3.2 Fair value determination of property, plant and equipment
Fair value measurement hierarchy of property, plant and equipment

Fair value measurement at end
of reporting period using:

Net
carrying
amount

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

4,379

0

0

4,379

Leasehold improvements at cost

597

0

0

597

Plant and equipment at cost

616

0

0

616

5,769

0

0

5,769

Leasehold improvements at cost

794

0

0

794

Plant and equipment at cost

451

0

0

451

As at 30 June 2018
Roads and bridges at fair value

As at 30 June 2017
Roads and bridges at fair value

There have been no transfers between levels for the property, plant and equipment
during the period.
Valuation of property, plant and equipment
All property, plant and equipment are recognised initially at cost and subsequently
revalued at fair value less accumulated depreciation and impairment in accordance
with the requirements of FRD 103G Non-Financial Physical Assets. This revaluation
process occurs every 5 years, based upon the asset’s classification under the Victorian
Government Purpose Classification, but may occur more frequently if fair value
assessments indicate material changes in values.
Revaluations are conducted either independently (as required under FRD 103G)
or using management expertise and classified as a management revaluation. Any
accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross
carrying value of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of
the asset.
In accordance with FRD 103G an independent revaluation of VicForests roads and
permanent bridges was performed by the Valuer-General Victoria as at 30 June 2016.
The revaluation exercise for all other asset classes was undertaken as at 30 June 2018
by management. Management has determined that a revaluation exercise for all other
assets is not required as fair value and cost are considered to approximate each other.
There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the period to 30 June 2018.
For all assets measured at fair value, the current use is considered the highest and best
use.
•

Roads and bridges
Roads and bridges are valued at fair value using the depreciated replacement
cost method (DRC). The DRC method has been used as the improvements are of
a specialised nature, and there is no active and liquid market as the asset is rarely
sold. This cost generally represents the replacement cost of the improvements to
a modern equivalent standard in order to replace the service capacity of an asset
after applying depreciation rates on a useful life basis.
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An independent valuation of VicForests roads and bridges was last performed by
the Valuer-General Victoria in 2016. The valuation was performed based on the
depreciated replacement cost of the assets. The effective date of the valuation was
30 June 2016.
•

Plant and equipment and leasehold improvements
Management has determined the fair value of plant and equipment and leasehold
improvements on the basis that the depreciated written down value of these assets
approximates their fair value. VicForests acquires, uses and depreciates these assets
solely for their service potential and not to generate profits from their resale.
The main assumptions applied were as follows:

•

•

effective life of the assets is accurate (reviewed annually); and

•

asset utilisation remains unchanged (enables VicForests to perform its normal
day to day operations).

Motor vehicle
The motor vehicle was disposed of in the financial year ended 30 June 2017. There
were no motor vehicles requiring valuation in the financial year ended 30 June
2018.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value of property, plant and equipment
Roads and
bridges

Leasehold
improvements

Plant and
equipment

$’000

$’000

$’000

5,769

794

451

Purchases

(5)

13

325

Sub-total

(5)

13

325

(1,385)

(210)

(158)

0

0

(2)

(1,385)

(210)

(160)

4,379

597

616

2018
Balance at beginning of year
(i)

Gains or (losses) recognised in
operating result
Depreciation
Loss on disposal of non-financial
physical and intangible assets
Sub-total
Balance at end of year

Note (i): A downward cost adjustment was made to the roads and bridges in the financial year
ending 30 June 2018 which related to the prior financial year.
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Roads and
Leasehold
bridges improvements

Plant and
equipment

$’000

$’000

$’000

Balance at beginning of year

5,156

524

270

Purchases

1,242

450

282

0

0

(4)

1,242

450

278

(629)

(178)

(93)

(0)

(2)

(4)

Sub-total

(629)

(180)

(97)

Balance at end of year

5,769

794

451

2017

Sales
Sub-total
Gains or (losses) recognised in
operating result
Depreciation
Loss on disposal of non-financial
physical and intangible assets

Description of significant unobservable inputs to Level 3 valuations of property, plant
and equipment
Significant changes in the cost per unit or the useful life of the property, plant and
equipment would have a significant effect on the fair value measurement of the asset.

2018

Valuation technique

Roads and
bridges

Depreciated
replacement cost

Leasehold
improvements

Plant and
equipment

Depreciated
replacement cost

Depreciated
replacement cost

Significant
unobservable inputs

Range and
(weighted average)

Cost per unit

$0-$449,439 per unit
($74,226 per unit)

Useful life of roads
and bridges

0-10 years (6.2 years)

Cost per unit

$0-$313,466 per unit
($74,554 per unit)

Useful life
of leasehold
improvements

0-5 years (2.9 years)

Cost per unit

$0-$120,892 per unit
($1,066 per unit)

Useful life of plant
and equipment

0-19 years (8.2 years)
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2017

Valuation technique

Roads and
bridges

Depreciated
replacement cost

Leasehold
improvements

Plant and
equipment

Depreciated
replacement cost

Depreciated
replacement cost

Significant
unobservable inputs

Range and (weighted
average)

Cost per unit

$900-$599,573 per
unit ($90,115 per unit)

Useful life of roads
and bridges

4-9 years (7.6 years)

Cost per unit

$0-$401,917 per unit
($99,307 per unit)

Useful life
of leasehold
improvements

0-6 years (3.9 years)

Cost per unit

$0-$127,255 per unit
($871 per unit)

Useful life of plant
and equipment

0-20 years
(11.2 years)

Significant unobservable inputs remain unchanged since June 2017.
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Note 8

Other disclosures
Introduction
Other disclosures comprise additional material required by accounting standards or
otherwise, for the understanding of this financial report.

Structure
This section includes:
•

Note 8.1

Subsequent events

•

Note 8.2

Other economic flows included in net result

•

Note 8.3

Remuneration of executives and payments to other personnel

•

Note 8.4

Responsible persons

•

Note 8.5

Remuneration of auditors

•

Note 8.6

Related parties

•

Note 8.7

Ex-gratia expenses

•

Note 8.8
		

New accounting standards and interpretations applicable but not yet
effective

Note 8.1 Subsequent events
Assets, liabilities, income or expenses arise from past transactions or other past events.
Where the transactions result from an agreement between VicForests and other
parties, the transactions are only recognised when the agreement is irrevocable at or
before the end of the reporting period.
Adjustments are made to amounts recognised in the financial statements for events
which occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when the financial
statements are authorised for issue, where those events provide information about
conditions which existed at reporting date. Note disclosure is made about events
between the end of the reporting period and the date the financial statements are
authorised for issue where the events relate to conditions which arose after the end of
the reporting period that are considered to be of material interest.
Subsequent to 30 June 2018 VicForests finalised two harvest and haulage agreements
with two contractors. These contracts commit VicForests to harvest and haulage
expenditure of $16.2 million (excl GST) through to 30 June 2023. Other than these two
agreements no other matters and/ or circumstances have arisen since the end of the
reporting period which significantly affect or may significantly affect the operations of
VicForests, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of VicForests in future
financial years.
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Note 8.2 Other economic flows included in net result
Other economic flows are changes in the value of an asset or liability that arise from
changes in market re-measurements, and not as a result of transactions.
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

0

1,500

0

1,500

(234)

(6,866)

(623)

(668)

(2)

(12)

(859)

(7,546)

Loss upon revaluation of long service leave
provision

(10)

(14)

Total other loss from other economic flows

(10)

(14)

Total other economic flows before income
tax

(869)

(6,060)

261

1,818

(608)

(4,242)

Notes

Gain on financial instruments
Gain on movement in provision for doubtful
contractual receivables

2.5.1

Total gain on financial instruments

Loss on non-financial assets
Loss upon revaluation of biological assets
Write down to net realisable value of logs in
inventory
Loss on disposal of non-financial physical and
intangible assets
Total loss on non-financial assets

4.3

Other loss from other economic flows

Income tax benefit relating to other economic
flows
Total other economic flows included in net
result after income tax

Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows include the gains or losses from:
•

The unrealised gains and losses upon the revaluation and impairment of contractual
receivables to net recoverable amount;

•

The unrealised gains and losses upon the revaluation of the biological assets to fair
value;

•

The unrealised gains and losses upon the revaluation of logs in inventory to net
realisable value;

•

The unrealised gains and losses upon the revaluation of the present value of the
long service leave provision due to changes in the bond interest rates; and

•

Any realised gain or loss on the sale of non-financial physical assets and intangible
assets is recognised at the date that the control of the asset is passed to the buyer
and is determined after deducting from the proceeds the carrying value of the
asset at the time.

87

88

Financial statements

Note 8.3 Remuneration of executives and payments to other 		
personnel
Remuneration of executives
The number of executive officers, other than ministers and accountable officers, and
their total remuneration during the reporting period are shown in the table below.
Total annualised employee equivalents are based on the time fraction worked over the
reporting period.
Remuneration comprises employee benefits in all forms of consideration paid, payable
or provided by VicForests, in exchange for services rendered, and is disclosed in the
following categories:
•

Short-term employee benefits - include amounts such as salaries, paid annual
leave, sick leave and bonuses, as well as non-monetary benefits such as allowances
and free or subsidised goods or services.

•

Post-employment benefits - consists of superannuation entitlements.

•

Other long-term employee benefits - consists of long service leave provided.

•

Termination benefits - consists of payments in lieu of notice.

•

Ex-gratia expenses - consists of additional termination benefits.

Various factors affected total remuneration payable to executives over the year.
Two executive officers were retrenched in the past year. This has had an impact on
remuneration figures for the termination benefits category.
2018

2017

Remuneration

$’000

$’000

Short-term employee benefits

1,085

936

107

87

25

23

138

0

5

0

1,360

1,046

7

6

4.91

4.59

Post-employment benefits
Other long-term employee benefits
Termination benefits
Ex-gratia expenses
Total remuneration(i)
Total number of executives during the
reporting period
Total annualised employee equivalents(ii)
Notes:
(i)

The total number of executive officers includes persons who meet the definition of Key
Management Personnel (KMP) of VicForests under AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures and
are also reported within the Related Parties note disclosure. (See Note 8.6).

(ii)

Annualised employee equivalent is based on paid working hours of 38 ordinary hours per
week over the 52 weeks for a reporting period.

Remuneration of other personnel (i.e. contractors with significant management
responsibilities)
There were no contractors with significant management responsibilities during the
reporting period (2017: $Nil).
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Note 8.4 Responsible persons
In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Minister for Finance, under
the Financial Management Act 1994, the following disclosures are made regarding
responsible persons for the reporting period.
Names
The persons who held the positions of Minister, Director and Accountable Officer in
VicForests at any time during the financial year are as follows:

Position

Name

Date range

Minister for Agriculture

The Hon. Jaala Pulford

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Director, Chair

Michael Humphris

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Director, Deputy Chair

Therese Ryan

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Director

Dr David Cochrane

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Director

Angeleen Jenkins

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Director

Christopher Lovell

1 June 2018 to 30 June 2018

Director

Kim McGrath

1 June 2018 to 30 June 2018

Director

Graeme Stoney

1 July 2017 to 6 October 2017

Director

Gregory Sword

1 June 2018 to 30 June 2018

Director

Catherine Walter

1 July 2017 to 6 October 2017

Accountable Officer, Acting Nathan Trushell
Chief Executive Officer

1 July 2017 to 31 July 2017

Accountable Officer, Chief
Executive Officer

1 August 2017 to 30 June
2018

Nathan Trushell

Remuneration
The Minister’s remuneration and allowances is set by the Parliamentary Salaries and
Superannuation Act 1968 and is reported within the Department of Parliamentary
Services’ Financial Reports.
The Directors’ remuneration received or receivable in connection with the
management of VicForests during the reporting period was as follows:
Number of directors
Income band ($)

2018

2017

$0 - $9,999

3

0

$10,000 - $19,999

2

0

$40,000 - $49,999

3

5

$70,000 - $79,999

1

1

Total numbers

9

6

$237,648

$286,883

Total amount
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A former Accountable Officer, Robert Green, resigned during the year ended 30 June
2017 and was replaced, on an acting basis, by Nathan Trushell. During the transition
period remuneration was paid to two persons in the capacity of Accountable Officer
at the same time. The total remuneration received or receivable by the Accountable
Officers in connection with the management of VicForests during the reporting period
was in the range $340,000 - $349,999 (2017: $430,000 - $439,999).

Note 8.5 Remuneration of auditors
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

110

107

Additional fees in relation to the prior year’s
financial statements

25

0

Total amount

135
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Victorian Auditor-General’s Office (VAGO)
Audit or review of the financial statements

Note 8.6 Related parties
VicForests is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Victoria.
Related parties of VicForests include:
•

all cabinet ministers and their close family members;

•

all departments and public sector entities that are controlled and consolidated into
the whole of state consolidated financial statements; and

•

all key management personnel and their close family members and personal business
interests (controlled entities, joint ventures and entities they have a significant
influence over).

VicForests entered into transactions with related parties for the purchase and sale of
various goods and services. These transactions were conducted on an arm’s length basis
and on normal commercial terms and conditions at market rates. They were also all
managed in line with the VicForests Board of Directors Conflict of Interest policy which
provides a framework for actual, potential or perceived conflicts of directors on the
VicForests Board and the VicForests Managing Conflicts of Interest instruction which
provides a framework for actual, potential or perceived conflicts of executives and other
employees of VicForests.
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Related departments and public sector entities:
The following entities have the same significant controlling entity as VicForests, and
therefore are considered to be related parties:
•

Australian Sustainable Hardwoods Pty Ltd (ASH);

•

Centre for IT Excellence (CenITex);

•

Country Fire Authority (CFA);

•

Department of Economic Development, Jobs, Transport and Resources (DEDJTR);

•

Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning (DELWP);

•

Department of Premier and Cabinet (DPC);

•

Department of Treasury and Finance (DTF);

•

Public Transport Victoria (PTV);

•

Roads Corporation (VicRoads);

•

State Revenue Office (SRO);

•

Treasury Corporation of Victoria (TCV);

•

Victoria State Emergency Service (SES);

•

Victorian Managed Insurance Authority (VMIA);

•

Victorian Rail Track (VicTrack); and

•

Yarra Valley Water (YVW).

Notes:
(i)

Income from the sale of sawlogs to Australian Sustainable Hardwoods Pty Ltd has not been
disclosed in this note due to commercial sensitivities.

(ii)

VicForests also has a relationship with the Victorian WorkCover Authority; however, as
all transactions with this entity are transacted through Xchanging Integrated Services
Victoria Pty Ltd (an Authorised Agent of the Victorian WorkCover Authority), the entity has
not been included in this related parties section.
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Related party transactions
VicForests booked the following income/ cash received and (expenditure/ cash outlay
and/or liabilities recognised) transactions with related parties:
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

678

678

Undertaking of regeneration works on public land

27

21

VicForests employee secondments

70

0

5,544

4,100

Reimbursement of Leadbeater’s Possum related
expenditure

704

742

Provision of VicForests employees to assist with
firefighting

605

280

Other VicForests employee secondments

93

12

Other

59

17

0

78

7,780

5,928

112

119

112

119

Refund of income tax

956

0

Total - other cash received

956

0

(40)

(0)

(907)

(805)

Professional fees - contribution to IT Audit

(32)

(33)

CFA

Motor vehicle - other - maintenance of fire
equipment

(1)

(1)

DEDJTR

Facilities - provision of office accommodation

(10)

(10)

0

(2)

(3,047)

(2,831)

(63)

(100)

Facilities - provision of office accommodation

(548)

(548)

Other

(127)

(63)

Related
party

Nature of transaction

Operating income
DEDJTR

DELWP

DPC

Release of Community Forestry grant to income

Reimbursement of foregone income re
Leadbeater’s Possum

VicForests employee secondments
Total - operating income from Government
entities
Interest income

TCV

Interest received on deposits
Total - interest income from Government
entities
Other cash received

DTF

Expenses
ASH

Sawlog quality claims

CenITex

Information technology - provision of core
infrastructure services and desktop support

Production expense - other
DELWP

Roading - timber haulage toll
Roading - road maintenance

DTF

Borrowing expense - Financial accommodation
levy

0

(32)

SES

Community service grant

0

(1)
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Related
party

2018

2017

Nature of transaction

$’000

$’000

SRO

Employee expense - Payroll tax

(675)

(646)

TCV

Borrowing expense - Interest expense on
borrowings

(27)

(114)

VicRoads Motor vehicle expense - registration fees

(6)

(2)

0

(2)

(351)

(358)

(15)

0

(5,849)

(5,548)

0

(148)

(1,791)

(800)

0

(1,097)

(8)

(6)

(1,799)

(2,051)

VicTrack

Information technology - provision of wide area
network

VMIA

Insurance premiums

YVW

Provision of recruitment advice
Total - expenses
Other payments and/or liabilities recognised

CenITex

Leasehold improvements - additions

DELWP

Biological assets - capitalised expenditure on
regeneration activity

DTF

Income tax paid

PTV

Provision of public transport ticketing
Total - other payments and/or liabilities
recognised

Outstanding related party balances
Outstanding balances at year end from related party transactions,
inclusive of GST, were as follows:
Amounts owed by
related parties
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

Cash deposits

0

2,038

Total cash and deposits

0

2,038

1,371

0

89

0

11,553

5,406

0

86

13,013

5,492

Related
party

Cash and deposits
TCV

Receivables
ASH

Trade receivables - sale of sawlogs

DEDJTR

Trade receivables - employee secondments

DELWP

Trade receivables - sale of goods and services
including Leadbeater’s Possum recovery program

DPC

Trade receivables - employee secondments
Sub-total - trade receivables

SRO

Receivable - payroll tax refundable

0

6

TCV

Receivable - accrued interest income

0

4

Sub-total - other receivables

0

10

13,013

5,502

Total receivables
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Amounts owed to
related parties
Related
party

2018

2017

$’000

$’000

Payables
CenITex

Payables - supplies and services

(125)

(48)

DELWP

Payables - supplies and services

(2,375)

(1,661)

DPC

Payables - supplies and services

(2)

0

DTF

Payables - financial accommodation levy

0

(6)

SES

Payables - community service grant

0

(2)

TCV

Payables - accrued interest on borrowings

0

(1)

(2,502)

(1,718)

Payables - payroll tax

(58)

(65)

Sub-total - statutory payables

(58)

(65)

(2,560)

(1,783)

Loan

0

(2,143)

Total borrowings

0

(2,143)

Sub-total - contractual payables
SRO

Total payables
Borrowings
TCV

Related party bad and doubtful debts expense and provision for doubtful debts
No expense was recognised during the year ended 30 June 2018 in respect of bad or
doubtful debts due from related parties (2017: $Nil). In addition, there is no provision
for doubtful debts relating to the amount of outstanding related party receivable
balances as at 30 June 2018 (2017: $Nil).
Commitments for expenditure and guarantees with related parties
Outstanding commitments for expenditure and guarantees at year end with related
parties, inclusive of GST, were as follows:
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

157

221

157

221

Indemnity for Banker’s undertaking

10

0

Total guarantees

10

0

Related
party

Commitments for expenditure
CenITex

Information technology services
Total commitments for expenditure
Guarantees

VicRoads
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Key management personnel (KMP)
AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures defines key management personnel (KMP) as those
persons with the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the
activities of VicForests, directly or indirectly, i.e. those charged with decision making
responsibilities.
KMP of VicForests include the Portfolio Minister, members of the VicForests Board of
Directors and members of the VicForests Executive Team. KMP names and position
titles are as follows:

Position

KMP Name

Date range

Minister for Agriculture

The Hon. Jaala Pulford

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Director, Chair

Michael Humphris

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Director, Deputy Chair

Therese Ryan

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Director

Dr David Cochrane

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Director

Angeleen Jenkins

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Director

Christopher Lovell

1 June 2018 to 30 June 2018

Director

Kim McGrath

1 June 2018 to 30 June 2018

Director

Graeme Stoney

1 July 2017 to 6 October 2017

Director

Gregory Sword

1 June 2018 to 30 June 2018

Director

Catherine Walter

1 July 2017 to 6 October 2017

Position

KMP Name

Date range

Accountable Officer, Chief
Executive Officer

Nathan Trushell

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Executive Officer, General
Manager Strategy and
Business Development

Anne Geary

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Executive Officer, General
Manager Corporate Affairs

Alex Messina

5 February 2018 to 30 June
2018

Executive Officer, General
Counsel - Legal

Peter Patterson

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Executive Officer, General
Manager Stakeholders and
Planning

Lachlan Spencer

1 July 2017 to 31 January
2018

Executive Officer, General
Manager Operations

Owen Trumper

1 March 2018 to 30 June
2018

Executive Officer, Chief
Financial Officer

Bronwyn Wellings

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Executive Officer, General
Manager Operations

Bradley Winthrop

1 July 2017 to 31 January
2018
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The compensation detailed below excludes the salaries and benefits the Portfolio
Minister receives. The Minister’s remuneration and allowances is set by the
Parliamentary Salaries and Superannuation Act 1968 and is reported within the
Department of Parliamentary Services’ Financial Reports.

Compensation of KMPs

Short-term employee benefits(i)
Post-employment benefits

(i)

Other long-term employee benefits
Termination benefits
Ex-gratia expenses
Total compensation(i)(ii)

2018

2017

$’000

$’000

1,619

1,598

147

136

32

31

138

0

5

0

1,941

1,765

Notes:
(i)

Directors’ remuneration has been reported under short-term employee benefits and the
superannuation thereon under post-employment benefits. (See Note 8.4).

(ii)

KMPs, including Accountable Officers, are also reported in the disclosure of remuneration of
Responsible persons. (See Note 8.4) and Executive officers. (See Note 8.3).

Transactions and balances with KMP and other related parties
Given the breadth and depth of State government activities, related parties transact
with the Victorian public sector in a manner consistent with other members of the
public, e.g. stamp duty and other government fees and charges. Further employment of
processes within the Victorian public sector occur on terms and conditions consistent
with the Public Administration Act 2004 and Codes of Conduct and Standards
issued by the Victorian Public Sector Commission. Procurement processes occur on
terms and conditions consistent with the Victorian Government Procurement Board
requirements.
Outside of normal citizen type transactions with the Victorian public sector, the
following related party transactions, exclusive of GST, that involved KMPs were
incurred:
2018

2017

Transactions with KMP related parties

$’000

$’000

Therese Ryan, Director is a director of the Victorian
Managed Insurance Authority from whom VicForests
has insurance cover

(351)

(358)

(7)

(7)

Nathan Trushell, Chief Executive Officer is:
--

a director of Australian Forestry Standard Limited
to which VicForests paid membership fees

--

a member of the SAI Global Limited Impartiality
Committee to and by which:(i)
··

VicForests paid registration, royalty,
subscription and surveillance audit fees(i)

N/A

(43)

··

VicForests was reimbursed travel related
expenses

N/A

1
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Transactions with KMP related parties

Anne Geary, Executive Officer is a director of Wood
Products Victoria Ltd to which VicForests paid
membership levies
Owen Trumper, Executive Officer is the Chair of Timber
Communities Australia to which VicForests paid
membership levies
Total transactions with KMP related parties

2018

2017

$’000

$’000

(20)

(25)

(5)

0

(383)

(432)

Note (i): Nathan Trushell ceased to be a member of SAI Global Limited’s Impartiality Committee
30 June 2017. Unpaid as at 30 June 2018 $N/A (30 June 2017: $11,902).

Impairment of receivables from KMPs and related parties
No provision has been required, nor any expense recognised, for impairment of
receivables from KMPs or related parties.
Loans with KMPs
There have been no loans entered into during or since the end of the reporting period
to or from KMPs.

Note 8.7 Ex-gratia expenses
Notes

Additional termination benefits
Total ex-gratia expenses

(i)

3.3.1

2018

2017

$’000

$’000

5

0

5

0

Note (i): Includes ex-gratia expenses for both individual items and in aggregate that are greater
than or equal to $5,000.

Ex-gratia expenses are the voluntary payment of money or other non-monetary
benefit that is not made either to acquire goods, services or other benefits for
VicForests or to meet a legal liability, or to settle or resolve as possible legal liability of
or claim against VicForests.
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Note 8.8 New accounting standards and interpretations applicable
but not effective
At the date of this financial report the following standards and interpretations which
are applicable to VicForests, have been issued but are not yet effective. VicForests has
not adopted and does not intend to adopt these standards early.
A discussion of their future requirements and their impact on VicForests is as follows:

Standard /
Interpretation (i)

AASB 9 Financial
Instruments

Summary

The key changes include the
simplified requirements for the
classification and measurement
of financial assets, a new hedge
accounting model and a revised
impairment loss model to
recognise expected impairment
losses earlier, as opposed to the
current approach that recognises
impairment only when incurred.

Applicable
for annual
reporting
periods
beginning on

1 Jan 2018

Impact on VicForests financial
statements

The assessment has identified
that the amendments are likely
to result in earlier recognition of
impairment losses and at more
regular intervals.
While the preliminary
assessment has not identified
any material impact arising
from AASB 9, it will continue to
be monitored and assessed.

AASB 15 Revenue
from Contracts
with Customers

1 Jan 2018
The core principle of AASB 15
requires an entity to recognise
revenue when the entity satisfies
a performance obligation by
transferring a promised good or
service to a customer. Note that
amending standard AASB 20158 Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards - Effective
Date of AASB 15 has deferred the
effective date of AASB 15 to annual
reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2018, instead of 1
January 2017.

AASB 16 Leases

The key changes introduced by
AASB 16 include the recognition
of operating leases (which are
currently not recognised) on
balance sheet.

1 Jan 2019

The assessment has indicated
that there will be no significant
impact.

The assessment has indicated
that most operating leases, with
the exception of short term and
low value leases, will come on
to the balance sheet and will be
recognised as right-of-use assets
with a corresponding lease
liability.
In the operating statement, the
operating lease expense will
be replaced by a depreciation
expense of the asset and an
interest charge.

Note (i): For the current year, given the number of consequential amendments to AASB 9
Financial Instruments and AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, and AASB 16 Leases,
the standards / interpretations have been grouped together to provide a more relevant view of
the upcoming changes.
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In addition to the new standards and amendments above, the AASB has issued a
list of other amending standards that are not effective for the 2017-18 reporting
period (as listed below). In general, these amending standards include editorial and
references changes that are expected to have insignificant impacts on VicForests’
reporting.
•

AASB 2017-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Uncertainty over
Income Tax Treatments

•

AASB 2018-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Annual
Improvements 2015 - 2017 Cycle

•

AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [Part E Financial
Instruments]

•

AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9

•

AASB 2014-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15

•

AASB 2015-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Effective Date of
AASB 15

•

AASB 2016-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Clarifications to
AASB 15
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Appendix 1

Disclosure index
The annual report of VicForests is prepared in accordance with all relevant Victorian
legislations and pronouncements. This index has been prepared to facilitate identification of
VicForests’ compliance with statutory disclosure requirements.

Legislation

Requirement

Page
reference

Ministerial Directions and Financial Reporting Directions
Report of operations
Charter and purpose
FRD 22H

Manner of establishment and the relevant Ministers

4, 39

FRD 22H

Purpose, functions, powers and duties

4-5

FRD 8D

VicForests’ objectives, indicators and outputs

4-5

FRD 22H

Key initiatives and projects

FRD 22H

Nature and range of services provided

18
4, 41-43

Management and structure
FRD 22H

Organisational structure

9

Financial and other information
FRD 8D

Performance against output performance measures

3, 10-14

FRD 10A

Disclosure index

100-102

FRD 12B

Disclosure of major contracts

FRD 15E

Executive officer disclosures

FRD 22H

Application and operation of Freedom of Information Act 1982

FRD 22H

Application and operation of the Carers Recognition Act 2012

28

FRD 22H

Application and operation of the Protected Disclosure Act 2012

28

FRD 22H

Compliance with building and maintenance provisions of Building Act 1993

27

FRD 22H

Details of consultancies over $10,000

25

FRD 22H

Details of consultancies under $10,000

25

FRD 22H

Disclosure of government advertising expenditure

25

FRD 22H

Disclosure of ICT expenditure

26

FRD 22H

Employment and conduct principles

21

FRD 22H

Major changes or factors affecting performance

FRD 22H

Occupational health and safety policy

FRD 22H

Significant changes in financial position during the year

FRD 22H

Statement of availability of other information

28

FRD 22H

Statement on Competitive Neutrality Policy

27

FRD 22H

Subsequent events

86

26
24, 89-90
26-27

3, 10-14
18-19
3, 10-14
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Legislation

Requirement

Page
reference

Ministerial Directions and Financial Reporting Directions
FRD 22H

Summary of the financial results for the year

10

FRD 25C

Victorian Industry Participation Policy disclosures

25

FRD 29C

Workforce data disclosures

19-24

SD 5.2

Specific requirements under Standing Direction 5.2

10-29

Compliance attestation and declaration
SD 5.1.4

Attestation for compliance with Ministerial Standing Direction

29

SD 5.2.3

Declaration in report of operations

29

Financial statements
Declaration
SD 5.2.2

Declaration in financial statements

32

Other requirements under Standing Directions 5.2
SD 5.2.1(a)

Compliance with Australian accounting standards and other authoritative
pronouncements

39

SD 5.2.1(a)

Compliance with Ministerial Directions

39

SD 5.2.1(b)

Compliance with Model Financial Report

29

Other disclosures as required by FRDs in notes to the financial statements
FRD 11A

Disclosure of Ex-Gratia Expenses

97

FRD 21C

Disclosures of Responsible Persons, Executive Officers and other Personnel
(Contractors with Significant Management Responsibilities) in the
Financial Report

88-90, 95-97

FRD 103G

Non-Financial Physical Assets

60-64, 79-85

FRD 110A

Cash Flow Statements

38

FRD 112D

Defined Benefit Superannuation Obligations

50

101

102
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Legislation

Page
reference

Legislation requiring a specific disclosure statement
Building Act 1993

27

Carers Recognition Act 2012

28

Financial Management Act 1994

39

Freedom of Information Act 1982

26-27

Protected Disclosure Act 2012

28

Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003

25

Other legislation VicForests is subject to includes:
Borrowing and Investment Powers Act 1987
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth)
Environment, Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999 (Cth)
Flora and Fauna Guarantee Act 1988
Forests (Wood Pulp Agreement) Act 1996
Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 (Cth)
Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 (Cth)
Independent Broad-Based Anti-Corruption Commission Act 2011
Multicultural Victoria Act 2004
Occupational Health and Safety Act 2004
Payroll Tax Act 2007
Penalty Interest Rate Act 1983
Personal Property Securities Act 2009 (Cth)
Privacy and Data Protection Act 2014
Project Development and Construction Management Act 1994
Public Administration Act 2004
Public Records Act 1973
State Owned Enterprises Act 1992
Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992 (Cth)
Sustainable Forests (Timber) Act 2004
Key:
FRD

Financial Reporting Direction issued by the Department of Treasury and Finance

SD

Standing Direction of the Minister for Finance
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Table of acronyms
Acronym

Definition

AAS

Australian Accounting Standards

AASB

Australian Accounting Standards Board

AFS

Australian Forestry Standard

ATO

Australian Taxation Office

DEDJTR

Department of Economic Development, Jobs, Transport and Resources

DELWP

Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning

DRC

Depreciated Replacement Cost

DTF

Department of Treasury and Finance

FAL

Financial Accommodation Levy

FBT

Fringe Benefits Tax

FFG

Flora and Fauna Guarantee Act 1988

FMA

Financial Management Act 1994

FoI

Freedom of Information

FRD

Financial Reporting Direction

FRN

Forest Road Network

FSC

Forest Stewardship Council

FTE

Full-time Equivalent

GMZ

General Management Zone

GST

Goods and Services Tax

IBAC

Independent Broad-Based Anti-Corruption Commission

ICT

Information and Communication Technology

KMP

Key Management Personnel

LBPAG

Leadbeater’s Possum Advisory Group

LIDAR

Light Detection and Ranging

LIDP

Local Industry Development Plan

LSL

Long Service Leave

LTI

Lost Time Injury

NCP

National Competition Policy

NRV

Net Realisable Value

NTER

National Tax Equivalent Regime

OH&S

Occupational Health and Safety

OVIC

Office of the Victorian Information Commissioner

SRO

State Revenue Office

TCV

Treasury Corporation of Victoria

THN

Timber Haulage Network

TRP

Timber Release Plan

VAGO

Victorian Auditor-General’s Office

VIPP

Victorian Industry Participation Policy

WACC

Weighted Average Cost of Capital

WSIEC

DEDJTR’s Wildlife and Small Institutions Animal Ethics Committee
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